
 
 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS 
3. ROLL CALL 
4. PRESENTATION 

A. Bob Trezise, Lansing Economic Area Partnership (LEAP) 
 

5. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS 
6. TOWNSHIP MANAGER REPORT 
7. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS OF ACTIVITIES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
8. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
9. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Communications 
B. Minutes-July 22, 2025 Regular Township Board Meeting 
C. Minutes-July 22, 2025 Closed Session 
D. Bills 
E. 2026 Budget Hearing Date 
F. Outdoor Assembly and Liquor License Request – High Caliber Karting 
G. Service Agreement – 2025 Fall Recycling Event 
H. Planned Unit Development #25-012 – 3560 Hulett Road – Giguere Homes – Set Public Hearing 

 
10. ACTION ITEMS 

A. Meridian Mall Parking Lot Resurfacing Agreement 
B. Eyde Central Park Property 

 
11. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS 

A. Ordinance 2025-06 – Rooster Regulation 
B. Community and Senior Center Next Steps 

 
12. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
13. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
14. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All comments limited to 3 minutes, unless prior approval for additional time for good cause is obtained from the Supervisor. Appointment of Supervisor Pro 
Tem and/ or Temporary Clerk if necessary. Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact the Meridian Township Board 
by contacting: Township Manager Tim Dempsey, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 or 517.853.4258 - Ten Day Notice is Required. 

Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Ml 48864 Township Hall  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 
AGENDA 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
TOWNSHIP BOARD – REGULAR MEETING 

August 7, 2025 6:00 PM 



LEAP & Meridian Township
Partnership to provide smart balanced growth to the three-

county region and Meridian Township

Thank You!



What is LEAP?
• One of ten Collaborative Development Councils (CDC) designated by the state for 

the last 15 years
• Represent Ingham, Eaton and Clinton counties
• 501© 6 with a Foundation and a Non-Profit THRIVE
• 80 members from private and public sector
• 2/3 membership private sector, 1/3 public
• Private Membership: $50,000 - $10,000/Public Sector $15,000 - $3,000
• Staff of 14.5, annual budget around $2.5M
• Fund Raise to remain open every fall of the year
• Have micro contracts for additional services to Ingham and Clinton counties



Why Economic Development?
• Our region is competing with regions from the world, nation and state

• Must be organized, aligned and intentional to effectively compete for new 
people, innovations, investment and jobs

• Nearly all other regions have been doing this far longer than our region with 
great positive impact on the community

• Creates not just direct jobs and investment, but new tax revenue for the quality 
services we all value as a community

• Develops a regional reputation for us all- A healthy, wealthy growing place- a 
sense of being hot and wanted – hometown pride – major psychological value



LEAP’s Regional Economic Development Plan
• People and Place

• Childcare
• RAP Placemaking grants $2.5M
• Small Town Enhancement grants
• Housing TIF/mixed use projects
• Participation/inclusion by all in the local economy
• Art and Culture

• Startups and Entrepreneurialism
• Tech Small Business Hub $3.5M
• Elevate, Ascend, Influence, One and All
• SmartZone
• Gatekeeper (Business Accelerator Fund and Local Accelerator Fund)

• Attract, Expand and Retain targeted industry and business
• EV, MedTech, AgTech, CreativeTech, Insurance, auto-related, particle accelerator, chip making
• Site Readiness and site searches



LEAP: Results for us All
• Since 2012:

• 10,191 direct jobs
• $7.28 billion in private investment
• 178 projects
• 286 small businesses launched
• Elevated entire region to global, national 

and statewide prominence



Direct Benefit Meridian Township
• Pandemic assistance to Meridian businesses supporting 86 businesses for a total of $1,015,000 in 

COVID Pandemic Relief Grants

• People living in Meridian/regional customers to keep main street Meridian businesses alive

• Working with Meridian currently on significant tech project

• Brownfield Forsberg apartments
• Okemos Pointe (Elevation) Brownfield Plan (transferred via Ingham Co BRA)

• Small Business Support via Trek Hub
• 20+ Small Businesses Supported through our intake process.

• Van Camp Wet Lab space with MSU Research Foundation
• 10+ additional tech companies supported through grants at the Van Camp Incubator which have raised 

more than $5m for research and development in the past 2 years.



Public Art for Communities

"Meridius Prime" -
Tim Higgins

"SOW" - Dane 
Porter



Direct Benefit to Meridian Township
• Active in real estate site searches

• Retention visits (wellness checks)

• LEAP & Local Economic Development Partners Meeting 

• EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant $44,284
oHudson Senior Village (1673 Haslett Rd.)



9.A

CONSENT AGENDA  
BOARD 

COMMUNICATIONS 



Some people who received this message don't often get email from

From:
To:
Cc: Board; 
Subject: RE: Thank you! re: Pathway maintenance...
Date: Friday, July 18, 2025 9:48:31 AM

Thanks, Tim. As always, we will continue to work on trimming as much as we are able to. We are still
working on additional areas.
 
Have a great weekend,
 
Dan Opsommer
Deputy Township Manager
Director of Public Works & Engineering

Work:  | Fax: 517.853.4099
5151 Marsh Road | Okemos, MI 48864
 

From: Tim Potter  
Sent: Friday, July 18, 2025 9:42 AM
To: Dan Opsommer <o
Cc: Board <
Subject: Thank you! re: Pathway maintenance...
 

Dan,
 
Thanks for having your crew take care of the brush overgrowing the path on the south-side of
Grand River over the RR bridge near Park Lk. Rd.  I hope the crew is planning to continue to
work on other areas that I documented which need clearing, esp. along the now very popular
MSU to Lk. Lansing Pathway as students will be returning soon and there are many blind
corners on the Phase 1 segment.
 
Tim Potter

*************************
MSU Bike Advisory Comm. member
TCBA Advocacy Comm. member
Ride of Silence webmaster
LCI #5207

Ride of Silence:  www.rideofsilence.org

2026 Ride of Silence: Wed. May 20th, 7:00 PM 
One day. One time. One world, world wide.
Let the silence roar!

 
 
On Thu, Jun 26, 2025 at 12:16 PM Tim Potter <  wrote:

Dan,
 



OK, thank you for letting me know that's happening.
 
Have a great rest of your week.
Tim
 
*************************
MSU Bike Advisory Comm. member
TCBA Advocacy Comm. member
Ride of Silence webmaster
LCI #5207

Ride of Silence:  www.rideofsilence.org

2026 Ride of Silence: Wed. May 20th, 7:00 PM 
One day. One time. One world, world wide.
Let the silence roar!

 
 
On Thu, Jun 26, 2025 at 8:07 AM Dan Opsommer <  wrote:

Hi Tim,
 
Township staff are reviewing your photos and videos to determine which ones should be
referred to code enforcement versus which ones are the Township’s responsibility. The
Township’s crew will work trimming as time permits.
 
Please let us know if you have any questions.
 
We hope you have a wonderful day,
 
Dan Opsommer
Deputy Township Manager
Director of Public Works & Engineering

Work:  | Fax: 517.853.4099
5151 Marsh Road | Okemos, MI 48864
 

From: Tim Potter < > 
Sent: Wednesday, June 25, 2025 11:18 PM
To: ; Dan Opsommer < >
Cc: Board < us>; Parks >; PW
< us>
Subject: Re: Photos & videos relt'd to my pathway maintenance recommendation
 
I would appreciate the courtesy of a reply to my email on Monday. 
 
Thank you in advance. 
 
Sent from Tim Potter's mobile
 

On Jun 23, 2025, at 12:11 PM, Tim Potter >



wrote:

Dear Dan & members of the Township Board,

I appreciated the opportunity during the Listening Session on June 10th to
ask questions and make a recommendation to move up the annual pathway
maintenance earlier in the season when most residents are out using the paths
OR to consider adding a 2nd system-wide pruning to the schedule.

The attendees were encouraged to submit complaints re: pathway problems
like overgrown brush to , so while biking around the
township since that meeting I've managed to collect a bunch of photos and
videos of Mer. Twp. Pathways that already need maintenance and this is mid-
June.  
 
The photos and videos:  https://photos.app.goo.gl/eTLT9k2eWtnsNmuK9
 
Imagine how overgrown all of these areas will be after a couple more
months.  
 
Better maintenance of our township pathways, which we've invested so much
in to construct, is something residents expect & it's safer for users which can
help the Township avoid potential legal expenses from injury lawsuits.

I've added captions to the photos and videos to describe the locations.

Thank you for your consideration.
Tim Potter
 
*************************
MSU Bike Advisory Comm. member
TCBA Advocacy Comm. member
Ride of Silence webmaster
LCI #5207

Ride of Silence:  www.rideofsilence.org

2026 Ride of Silence: Wed. May 20th, 7:00 PM 
One day. One time. One world, world wide.
Let the silence roar!



From:
To:
Cc:  Board
Subject: Response to Concerns Regarding Deer Management Program
Date: Wednesday, July 23, 2025 1:16:30 PM

Good afternoon Ms. Davis,

Thank you for reaching out and continuing to share your concerns regarding Meridian
Township’s Deer Management Program on the Ingham County property located
south of the Ingham County Rehabilitation Facility.

Below is a consolidated summary of your recent questions and comments, along with our
responses. We hope this information is helpful in explaining the careful planning and
consideration behind the program. I would also be happy to speak with you directly, please
feel free to call if you would prefer a phone conversation.

Poaching

Question:
Could you clarify who Township residents should contact to report suspected
poaching on County property included in the Township’s deer hunting program?

Response:
The Michigan Department of Natural Resources (DNR) is the regulatory agency
responsible for investigating suspected poaching. All such reports should be
directed to the DNR's RAP (Report All Poaching) line at 800-292-7800.

To better understand and follow up on your concern, could you please clarify
the nature of the suspected poaching? For example:

·         Did it occur outside of the designated hunting season (October–

January)?

·         Have you observed illegal hunting activity or individuals hunting outside

of approved zones?

Any additional information would be greatly appreciated.

Field Dressing and Gut Piles

Question:



Can the Township reconsider its gut pile policy to align with DNR rules and
better address public health and environmental concerns?

Response:
With DNR approval, Meridian Township’s Deer Management Program permits
gut piles to remain in designated hunting areas. Our program guidelines specify
that field dressing must occur at least 15 feet from any trail or pathway to
minimize the likelihood of encounters by the public and pets, assuming trail
users stay on marked paths.

Comment:
It is unlawful to dispose of gut piles on Michigan State land according to DNR
rules.

Response:
This is correct, as stated in the DNR’s SLU Rules (R 299.922, Rule 22): “It is
unlawful to dispose of animal carcasses or other remains, including gut piles,
on Michigan State land.” However, the property in question is owned by Ingham
County, not the State of Michigan. Meridian Township works closely with the
DNR and operates in full compliance with state regulations. The DNR has
confirmed that gut piles may remain in our program’s approved hunting areas.

Comment:
Improper disposal of gut piles may spread disease such as Chronic Wasting
Disease (CWD) and Bovine Tuberculosis (bTB).

Response:
We share your concern regarding CWD. Meridian Township partners with
Michigan State University to test deer for CWD as part of our program. Since
2015, no CWD cases have been reported in Ingham County. In addition, deer
are tested before any venison is donated to programs such as Sportsman
Against Hunger or local food banks. We are committed to public health and
safe practices.

Comment:
Gut piles attract predators and scavengers such as bears, coyotes, and birds.

Response:
Field dressing is a common and allowed practice on public lands in Michigan.
Our program follows all applicable DNR regulations and further defines this



practice in our official Rules and Regulations:

“Deer may be dressed in the field, well away from roads or trails.”

While gut piles may attract scavengers like coyotes, foxes, or raccoons, these
animals are part of the natural ecosystem. We have not experienced safety
issues within managed hunting areas.

Comment:
Gut piles near water sources may risk environmental contamination.

Response:
This is an important concern. We will continue to work with our hunters to
ensure field dressing occurs well outside buffer zones near sensitive natural
features, including streams and wetlands.

Comment:
The Michigan Department of Agriculture & Rural Development outlines
approved disposal methods for animal remains under the Bodies of Dead
Animals Act.

Response:
Thank you for referencing these guidelines. We are aware of the various
approved disposal methods, including burial, incineration, composting,
rendering, and landfill disposal. We can add a review and discuss potential
alternative methods during our annual Deer Management Program planning
sessions in partnership with the DNR, USDA, MSU, and Meridian Police
Department.

Thank you again for taking the time to share your concerns. Meridian Township is committed to
ensuring the safety of our residents, wildlife, and environment. Our Deer Management
Program is carefully planned with input from state agencies and university researchers, and
we strive for transparency and responsible stewardship.

Please don’t hesitate to reach out if you would like to speak further. I’m happy to schedule a
time to talk.

Warm regards,

 



 
Courtney Wisinski
Director of Parks and Recreation

Work: 
2100 Gaylord C. Smith Court | Haslett, MI 48840
 
 
 Subscribe to Parks & Recreation’s E-Newsletter, The
Playbook: https://bit.ly/SignUpMTwpNewsletters
 







dead animals, under the Bodies of Dead Animals Act which can apply to gut piles as well. These include: 

Burial: Burying the remains at least 2 feet below the surface of the ground.

Burning: Burning in an appropriate, licensed or permitted incinerator in compliance with relevant regulations.

Composting: Utilizing composting methods designed for animal remains.

Rendering: Engaging the services of a licensed dead animal dealer or rendering plant.

Landfill: Contacting your local landfill to inquire about their acceptance of dead animal remains. 

For areas with CWD concerns, the Michigan Department of Natural Resources (MDNR) recommends taking

specific precautions during field dressing, including wearing gloves, minimizing contact with brain and spinal

tissue, and disposing of parts through garbage service, landfill, incineration, or deep burial at the harvest site.

By adhering to these recommendations and regulations, hunters can help protect Michigan's wildlife,

environment, and public health. 

 Please let me know if this is the correct contact point to have the current policy reviewed.

I look forward to hearing from you soon.

 Shannon Davis



 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities, and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 
  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
July 21, 2025 

 
CONTACT: Angela Demas, Township Clerk 

517.853.4304 | demas@meridian.mi.us 

 

Meridian Township Notice of Special Election on August 5 
Meridian Township Residents to Vote on Community and Senior Center Proposals 

 
Meridian Township, MI – On Tuesday, August 5, 2025, Meridian Township will hold a special 
election for the purpose of voting on the following ballot proposals: 
 

• Community and Senior Center Operating Millage 
• Community and Senior Center Project Bond 

 
The full text of the ballot proposals and sample ballots can be viewed online at michigan.gov/vote or 
in person at the Meridian Township Clerk’s Office (5151 Marsh Road, Okemos).  
 
VOTER REGISTRATION INFORMATION 
 
Any qualified voter who is not already registered can do so at the Meridian Township Clerk’s Office, 
Ingham County Clerk’s Office, a Secretary of State branch office, another designated state agency, or 
online at michigan.gov/vote. 
 
The last day to register online is Monday, July 21. Starting Tuesday, July 22, all voter 
registration must be done in person with proof of residency at the following location and 
times: 
 

• Meridian Township Clerk’s Office (5151 Marsh Road, Okemos) 
o Regular Business Hours: Monday – Friday from 8:00 am to 5:00 pm 
o Additional Business Hours: Saturday, August 2 and Sunday, August 3 from 9:00 am to 

4:00 pm 
 
ABSENTEE BALLOTS 
 
Any registered voter may request an absentee ballot. Voters may apply online at michigan.gov/vote 
or at the Meridian Township Clerk’s Office. 
 
Absentee ballots must be received by 8:00 pm on Election Day to be counted. Absentee ballots can be 
deposited into one of the four Meridian Township drop boxes, tabulated at the early voting site 
during the designated period, or tabulated at the polls on Election Day. 
 
Drop Box Locations: 

• Meridian Township Municipal Building (Outside) | 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos 
• Meridian Township Municipal Building (Inside) | 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos 
• Haslett Library (Outside Front Entry) | 1590 Franklin Street, Haslett 
• Okemos Library (Outside Front Entry) | 4321 Okemos Road, Okemos  

 
-more- 

mailto:demas@meridian.mi.us
https://mvic.sos.state.mi.us/Home/Index
https://mvic.sos.state.mi.us/Home/Index
https://mvic.sos.state.mi.us/Home/Index


 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities, and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 
  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
July 21, 2025 

 
CONTACT: Angela Demas, Township Clerk 

517.853.4304 | demas@meridian.mi.us 

 

The deadline to request an absentee ballot in person is Monday, August 4 at 4:00 pm, except for 
those who register to vote on Election Day. Ballots issued on Monday, August 4, must be requested 
and voted in person at the Meridian Township Clerk’s Office. Anyone who registers on Election Day, 
Tuesday, August 5, is also eligible to receive an absentee ballot at the Meridian Township Clerk’s 
Office. 
 
EARLY VOTING 
 
All qualified voters have the option to vote early in person beginning Friday, August 1, through 
Sunday, August 3. The Early Voting Center will be held in the Town Hall Room of the Meridian 
Township Municipal Building (5151 Marsh Road, Okemos) and is open from 9:00 am to 4:00 pm on 
all three days. 
 
VOTING ON ELECTION DAY 
 
Polls will open at 7:00 am on Tuesday, August 5, and ballot drop boxes and polling locations will close 
at 8:00 pm. 
 
If voting in person on Election Day, voters must bring a valid ID to their polling location. Valid IDs on 
Election Day include a Michigan driver’s license or state ID, a driver’s license or personal ID card 
issued by another state, a federal, state, county, or local government-issued photo ID, a U.S. passport, 
a military ID with photo, a student ID with a photo from a high school or accredited institution of 
higher learning, or a tribal ID card with a photo. If voters do not have their ID, they must sign an 
affidavit before casting their vote.  
 
To find your polling location, visit michigan.gov/vote. A precinct map is also available online at 
meridian.mi.us/vote. For questions about the special election, please contact the Meridian Township 
Clerk’s Office at 517.853.4300 or clerksoffice@meridian.mi.us. Additional information can also be 
found online at meridian.mi.us/vote. 
 

### 

mailto:demas@meridian.mi.us
https://mvic.sos.state.mi.us/Home/Index
https://www.meridian.mi.us/about-us/departments/clerk-s-office/election-information
mailto:clerksoffice@meridian.mi.us
https://www.meridian.mi.us/about-us/departments/clerk-s-office/election-information


 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 
 

  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
July 28, 2025 

 
CONTACT: Bart Crane, Assistant Chief 
517.853.4800 | crane@meridian.mi.us 

 

Meridian Township Police Investigate Vehicle Crash Involving a Pedestrian 
Pedestrian struck while crossing Haslett road 

 

MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP, MI – July 28, 2025 – On Monday, July 28, 2025, at approximately 5:30 pm 
Meridian Township Police were called to the 2300 block of Haslett Road for a report of a traffic crash 
involving a pedestrian. 

Upon arrival, officers located a female pedestrian in the roadway with injuries. The injured 
pedestrian was subsequently transported to a local hospital by the Meridian Township Fire 
Department for treatment.  The driver of the vehicle was uninjured.  A portion of the roadway was 
closed during the investigation. 

The Meridian Township Police Department received assistance at the scene from the Meridian 
Township Fire Department and the East Lansing Police Department. 

Anyone who has information regarding this incident is urged to contact the Meridian Township 
Police Department at 517.853.4800. Information can also be directed to Officer Bryant Martin at 
martin@meridian.mi.us, or an anonymous tip can be submitted through the Department’s social 
media platforms. 

### 

 

 



Developer 
Name 

Development 
Project Name

Review 
Category 

Project 
Location Project Type Unit #

Assigned: 
Department/C

ommission
Project Description 

Mid Michigan 
Academy of 
Martial Arts

Mid Michigan 
Academy of 
Martial Arts

New/Relocating 4790 Marsh 
Road

New 
Commercial 
Development

1
Building/Econ 
Development 

Depts

Plans received to renovate the 
interior of 4790 Marsh road to 
accommodate Mid Michigan Martial 
Arts Academy. This buisness is a 
relocation from Downtown to the 
Marsh road location. Set for August 
21st at 4 PM

Integrity 
Restoration Art Unlimited New/Relocating

1915 W 
Grand 

River Ave.
Relocation 1

Building/Econ 
Development 

Depts

Relocation of Art Unlimited. Ribbon 
Cutting set for August 6th at 4 PM 

Cameron 
Shooltz

Uptowne 
Cheapstake

New Business 
Opening/ 

Relocating 

4790 
Hagadorn 

Road

New 
Commercial 
Development

1
Building/Econ 
Development 

Depts

Ribbon cutting set for Thursday July 
31st at 9 AM

 New & Relocating 



Developer 
Name 

Development 
Project Name 

Review 
Category 

Project 
Location Project Type Unit #

Assigned: 
Department/C

ommission
Project Description 

Bennett Road 
Holding, LLC

Silverleaf 
(Phase I)

Under 
Construction 

West Bennett 
Road 

Single Family 
Homes 25 of 150 Building Dept. First phase of 150 single family home 

development. 

Newman 
Equities II , 

LLC
Grand Reserve Under 

Construction
1580 Woodland 
Way Okemos

Mixed Housing -
Middle Housing 115 Building Dept.

Continued construction of approved 75 
single family homes and 75 duplexes for 
rent off of Central Park, Powell Road. 
Duplexes to open May -June 2025

DTN Property 
Management Newton Pointe Under 

Construction 
626 Newton 

Road 

New 
Commercial 

Development
1 Building Dept.

Planting of landscaping to separate the 
single family home section of this 
project/ 

Delta Dental 
of Michigan Delta Dental Under 

Construction 
4100 Okemos 

Road

Exisiting 
Commercial 

Interior 
Renovation

1 Building Dept. 

Interior remodeling of phase 1 north 
building underway. May receive 
temporary certificate of occupancy by 
end of May. Phase II of interior remodel 
to begin in June with a Fall possible 
completion. 

Okemos 
Coffee Shop

Okemos Coffee 
Shop

Under 
Construction 

1732 Hamilton 
Road Redevelopment 1 Building Dept.

Redevelopment of original Midwest 
Power location into the Okemos Coffee 
House. 

Meridain 
Retail 

Management 
II LLC

Starbucks 
Coffee 

Under 
Construction 

2731 Grand 
River Ave Redevelopment i Building Dept. Construction of the Starbucks Coffee 

proposed at 2731 Grand River Ave. 

Concrete 
Resource Ashley Furnitue Under 

Construction 
1982 W. Grand 

River Ave Redevelopment 1 Building Dept.

Plans received for interior site 
improvements for Ashley Furniture. 
Soon to be issued approval for 
construction. 

Under Construction 



Black River 
Bells LLC Taco Bell Under 

Construction 
2030 Grand 
River Ave Renovation 1 Building Dept.

Interior plan approval for remodel of 
Taco Bell on Grand River. Soon to be 
issued approval for construction. 



Developer 
Name 

Development 
Project Name Review Category Project 

Location Project Type Unit #
Assigned: 

Department/Comm
ission

Project Description 

Jim Giguere Hulett Estates PUD Plan 
Resubmittal 

North of 
Robbins  Way - 
East  of Hulett 
Rd Okemos MI

Single Family 
Homes 7 Township Board

Renovation of 1 single family home 
and the addition of 6  new single 
family homes off Hulett and Jolly 
Road.

SP Holding 
Company,

LLC

Haslett Village 
Square 2.0

Under Site Plan 
Review 

1655-1621 
Haslett Road 

Haslett MI

MUPUD 
Commercial + 

Residential 
290

Planning Dept. 
Building Dept. 
Engineering 

Economic Dvlpt

Redevelopment of the remaining  19 
acres at Haslett and Marsh road. 
Rehab an existing 10,000 sq ft 
building, build a new 11,000 sq ft 
commercial building. 

N/A Panda Express Under Plan Review 4990 Marsh 
Road

New 
Commercial 

Development
1 Planning Dept. New Application received 

Vamo Group/ 
Austin 

Hamilton 

1486 Haslett 
Road 

Development
New Applications 1486 Haslett 

Road

New 
Commercial 

Development
1 Building Dept. 

Plans received to renovate the 
established lumber yard building at 
1486 haslett road into a commercial 
suite and residential suite for rent 
unit. Commercial first floor with 
residential second floor is a 
conditional use by right. 

Mister Car 
Wash

Mister Car 
Wash New Applications 4880 Marsh 

Road

New 
Commercial 

Development
1 Planning Dept.

Proposed Car Wash at 4880 Marsh 
Road. Plans under review by 
Engineering, Planning Department 
(waiting for Drain and Road 
approval), and Building Department.

Wheat 
Jewelers Wheat Jewelers Awaiting 

Applications
4990 Marsh 

Road Demolition 1 Building Dept. Demolition of Wheat Jewelers 
buiding.

Under Plan Review



Okemos 
Family 

Dentistry

Okemos Family 
Dentistry New Applications 2277 Science 

Parkway Renovation 1 Building 
Department

Interior renovation of Okemos 
Family Dentistry

Wild Bills 
Tobacco

Wild Bills 
Tobacco New Applications 3520 Okemos 

Road Suite 5

New 
Commercial 

Development
I Building 

Department

Wild Bills Tobacco will take over the 
existing tobacco and supply store at 
3520 Okemos Road. 

Haslett New 
Beginnings 

OBGYN

Haslett New 
Beginnings 

OBGYN
New Applications 1650 Haslett 

Road
Expansion/Ren

ovation 1 Building 
Department

Remodel of Haslett New Beginnings 
OBGYN office. 

N/A Swagath Food 
Indian Grocery New Applications 3695 Okemos 

Road Renovation 1 Building Dept. Interior expansion to include 
Financial Services of America



9.B

CONSENT AGENDA 
PROPOSED BOARD MINUTES 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

Move to approve and ratify the minutes of the Regular Meeting of July 
22, 2025 as submitted.  (1)

ALTERNATE MOTION: 

Move to approve and ratify the minutes of the Regular Meeting of July 
22, 2025 with the following amendment(s):[insert amendments]

(1)

(1)



Page 1 

 CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 

REGULAR MEETING TOWNSHIP BOARD -DRAFT- 
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Township Hall Room 

TUESDAY, July 22, 2025, 6:00PM 
 
PRESENT: Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee 

Sundland, Trustee Trezise, and Trustee Wilson 

ABSENT: None 

STAFF: Township Manager Dempsey, Township Deputy Manager Opsommer, Fire Chief 
Hamel, Finance Director Blonde, IT Director Gebes, Neighborhoods & Economic 
Development Director Clark, Community Planning and Development Director Schmitt, 
Parks and Recreation Director Wisinski 
 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson called the July 22, 2025, Regular Township Board meeting to order at 
6:00 pm. 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

 
3. ROLL CALL 

 
Clerk Demas called the roll of the Board.  All board members present at 6:01 pm. 

 
4. Presentation  

 
A. Manager’s Semi-Annual Report 

 
Township Manager Dempsey presented semi-annual reports from Township departments. 

 
5. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS 

 
Supervisor Hendrickson opened public comment at 6:19 pm. 
 
Jeff Kessner spoke about proposed Community Center. 
 
Supervisor Hendrickson closed public comment at 6:21 pm. 
 

6. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS OF ACTIVITIES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
Trustee Wilson attended the Community Resource Commission (CRC) meeting and a virtual 
Town Hall with Senator Slotkin. 
 
Clerk Demas gave updates on election information about upcoming August 5, 2025 Special 
Election. 
 



Page 2 

Treasurer Deschaine attended Michigan Township Association (MTA) mid-year legislative 
update meeting. 
 
Several Board Members attended the East Lansing-Meridian Water & Sewer Authority 
(ELMWSA) annual meeting. 
 

7. TOWNSHIP MANAGER REPORT 
 
Manager Dempsey gave updates on: 

• Assessing interns taking photos in community to update assessing database. 
• Next Township Board regular meeting is Thursday, August 7th 

 
8. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
Trustee Wilson moved to approve the Agenda. Supported by Trustee Lentz. 
 
VOICE VOTE:  YEAS:  Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer Deschaine, 

Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, and Trustee 
Wilson 

 
NAYS: NONE 

 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
9. CONSENT AGENDA  

 
Treasurer Deschaine moved to approve the Consent Agenda.  Supported by Trustee 
Trezise. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer 

Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, 
and Trustee Wilson 
 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
10. ACTION ITEMS 

 
A.  Amendment to the Haslett Village Square Brownfield Plan 

 
Director Clark outlined Haslett Village Square Brownfield Plan. 
 
Board members spoke in favor of the project and workforce housing but does not meet the 
need of affordable housing.  
 
Board members determined that the plan meets the public purpose component.   
 
Board members asked about project timeline. 
 

Trustee Wilson moved to adopt the resolution in support of the Haslett Village 
Square Brownfield Plan Amendment #1 for properties at 1621 & 1655 Haslett Road, 



Page 3 

with a Total Increment Revenue of $17,608,772 and developer reimbursement not to 
exceed $14,563,048, for 23 years. Seconded by Treasurer Deschaine. 
 

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer 
Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, 
and Trustee Wilson  
 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0  

 
B. 2nd Quarter Budget Amendments 

 
Director Blonde gave a summary of 2nd quarter budget amendments. 
 
The Board discussed the under anticipated budget. 
 
Trustee Trezise to approve the 2nd Quarter 2025 Budget Amendments with an 
increase in budgeted fund balance for the General Fund in the amount of $24,861 
which projects a use of fund balance of $199,307.  Based on 2024 results, the 
projected fund balance at December 31, 2025 will be $12,453,953. Seconded by 
Trustee Wilson. 
 

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer 
Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, 
and Trustee Wilson  
 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0  

 
C. Acceptance of Audit Findings 

 
Director Blonde gave a summary of 2024 audit process. 
 
Board members thanked Director Blonde for work on 2024 audit. 
 
Trustee Wilson moved to approve the 2024 audited financial statements as 
presented by Yeo & Yeo. Seconded by Treasurer Deschaine.  

ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer 
Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, 
and Trustee Wilson  
 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0  

 
D. 2026 Board Goals 

 
Manager Dempsey gave a summary of proposed 2026 Board goals. 



Page 4 

 
Board members discussed 2026 Board goals and values including changes made from 
prior discussion.  They also discussed amending communications goal to make it detailed 
oriented.  
 
Manager Diehl gave an overview of communications department policy of creating a digital 
accessibility plan in compliance with Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) 
by 2027. 
 
Trustee Lentz moved to approve the Board valued and 2026 Board goals as 
presented in the attached document.  Supported by Clerk Demas. 
 

VOICE VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer 
Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, 
and Trustee Wilson  
 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
Clerk Demas moved to amend the Board values and 2026 Board goals as presented 
to communications: identify ways to expand and enhance communication with 
Township residents and stakeholders; and create a digital accessibility plan that is 
ADA complaint. Supported by Treasurer Deschaine. 

VOICE VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer 
Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, 
and Trustee Wilson  
 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0  

 
11. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS 

 
A. Central Park Project 

 
Director Schmitt gave an overview of the Central Park project. 
 
Brett Mozzetti and Mark Clouse, representing Eyde Development, and Brett Mozzetti, 
representing Continental Properties gave a presentation on the project. 
 
Board members spoke in favor of the project over commercialization of area. 
 
Board members asked about zoning ordinance, height requirements, and parking 
standards. They also requested modifications to concept plan appearances and naming. 
 
Board members voiced concerns about the settlement agreement, curb cuts due to 
increased traffic, project appearance with parking and trash receptacles, and emergency 
bollards.  
 



Page 5 

Board members discussed wetland preservation with the project and discussed economic 
impact. 
 
Board members requested the project to be referred to Planning Commission and a public 
hearing be held.  
 

B. Meridian Mall/Marketplace on the Green Paving Project 
 
Director Wisinski and Deputy Manager Opsommer gave an overview of the project. 
 
Board members asked about timeline and cost of generator replacement.  
 
Board members requested negotiation with project cost and inclusion of additional 
accessible parking. 

 
12. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 

 
Supervisor Hendrickson opened public comments at 8:21 pm. 

 
Supervisor Hendrickson closed public comments at 8:21 pm. 
 

13. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS  
 
Supervisor Hendrickson spoke about Special Election voting options. 
 

14. CLOSED SESSION  
 
Trustee Trezise moved to enter closed session under MCL 15.268(1)(h) to consult with 
the Township attorney regarding a confidential written legal opinion. Seconded by 
Trustee Wilson. 

ROLL CALL VOTE:  YEAS: Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer  
Deschaine, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Trezise, 
and Trustee Wilson  
 
NAYS: NONE 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 
 

At 8:23, the Township Board entered into closed session. 
 
At 11:41, open session resumed. 
 
15. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Trustee Trezise moved to adjourn. Seconded by Trustee Wilson. 

 
VOICE VOTE YEAS: Supervisor Hendrickson, Clerk Demas, Treasurer 

Deschaine, Trustee Sundland, Trustee Lentz, Trustee Trezise, 
and Trustee Wilson 
 
NAYS:  NONE 



Page 6 

 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
The meeting adjourned at 11:42 pm 

 

__________________________________ 
Scott Hendrickson 

Township Supervisor 

 

__________________________________ 
Angela Demas 

Township Clerk 



To: Board Members 

From: Bernadette Blonde, Finance Director 

Date: August 7, 2025 

Charter Township of Meridian
Board Meeting

8/7/2025

MOVED THAT THE TOWNSHIP BOARD APPROVE THE TOWNSHIP

INVOICES/EXPENSES AS FOLLOWS:

COMMON CASH

PUBLIC WORKS

TRUST & AGENCY

CREDIT CARD TRANSACTIONS

07/16/2025 to 07/29/2025

ACH PAYMENTS

TOTAL CHECKS:

TOTAL PURCHASES:

�Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

$

$

$

$

$

$ 

$ 

9.D

1,291,712.78

489,746.20

81.43

1,781,540.41

13,912.46

1.795.452.87

1,302,051.78

A PRIME COMMUNITY 

meridian.mi.us 

------



























Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

Board Members 

Tim Dempsey, Township Manager & Bernadette Blonde, Finance Director 

August 7, 2025 

2026 Budget Public Hearing Date 

Staff will present Board members with the 2026 Recommended Budget on September 2, 2026, and 

it will be posted to the Township website.  The 2026 Budget Public Hearing will be held September 

16, 2026. 

The following motion is prepared for Board consideration: 

MOVE THAT A PUBLIC HEARING BE HELD AT 6:00 PM ON SEPTEMBER 16, 2025 FOR 

THE PURPOSE OF TAKING COMMENTS REGARDING THE 2026 CHARTER TOWNSHIP 

OF MERIDIAN RECOMMENDED BUDGET. 

9.E



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

To: Board Members 

From: Amber Clark, Neighborhoods and Economic Development Director 

Date: August 7, 2025 

Re: Outdoor Gathering Permit& Liquor License Approval 
High Caliber Karting 2025 Meridian Motorfest  

The attached is a request from High Caliber Karting and Entertainment (HCKE), a commercial 
entertainment venue in Meridian Mall to host the annual Meridian Motorfest Car Show on Sunday 
August 31, 2025. This is the fifth celebration at HCKE promoting the love of vehicles, collectibles, 
and showcasing motor skills.   

Event Details  

Day: Sunday, August 31, 2024  

Time: 12 PM to 7 PM (Single Day) event 

Police Fire Protection:  

2 Police Department Staff have been approved to be present at the Meridian Motorfest 

Police & Fire Approval: Yes  

Community Planning Approval: Yes 

It is the recommendation of the Director of Economic Development, Director of Community 
Planning, Fire Chief and Police Chief that High Caliber Karting & Entertainment should receive the 
Outdoor Gathering Permit for August 31, 2025. This is a great event, safely organized, held at 
Meridian Mall and includes all age groups. This is a great attraction for our community and the 
Mall.   

The following motion have been prepared for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO ADOPT THE RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
APPROVAL FOR ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE SALES AND AN OUTDOOR ASSEMBLY 
LICENSE TO HIGH CALIBER KARTING & ENTERTAINMENT FOR THE 2025 
MERIDIAN MOTORFEST CAR SHOW TO BE HELD ON AUGUST 31, 2025 AT HIGH 
CALIBER KARTING-MERIDIAN MALL. 

Attachments: 
1. Application for Outdoor Assembly License
2. Meridian Motorfest Event Map
3. MLCC Resolution for Local Government Approval

9.F



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN LICENSE FOR 
OUTDOOR ASSEMBLY 

 
 

 

The Township Board of the Charter of Meridian hereby grants Licensee, HIGH CALIBER 
KARTING AND ENTERTAINMENT, whose address is  1982 W. GRAND RIVER AVE- 
MERIDIAN MALL –HCKE PARKING LOT, NORTH EAST SIDE OF MERIDIAN MALL, a license 
to conduct an outdoor assembly on the 31ST day of AUGUST, 2025 between the hours of 
12:00 PM_- 7:00 PM upon the premises located at 1982 W. GRAND RIVER AVE- MERIDIAN 
MALL – MARKETPLACE ON THE GREEN FARMERS MARKET PARKING LOT 1995 and the 
HCKE PARKING LOT, NORTH EAST SIDE OF MERIDIAN MALL, .The purpose and character 
of the outdoor assembly shall be limited to: 

The number of person to attend is estimated at 1500. 

Licensee shall observe the minimum requirements contained in Chapter 38, Article V of the 
Charter Township of Meridian Code of Ordinances, except that the Township board grants 
Licensee a waiver of the following provisions: 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________. 

In addition to the foregoing, Licensee shall observe the following additional conditions: 

This License shall not be transferable  

The License shall be posted in a conspicuous place upon the premises of the assembly. 

The foregoing License was approved by the Township Board of the Charter Township of 
Meridian on the 7th day of August, 2025. 

 

 

       __________________________ 
Angela Demas 
Township Clerk 

       Meridian Township  
 

 















 

 

9.G 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

To:  Board Members 
 
From:  Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager 

Director of Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date:  July 31, 2025 
 
Re:  Service Agreement - 2025 Fall Recycling Event 
 
 
The final piece of transitioning job responsibilities from LeRoy Harvey, who retired early this year, 
will involve this contract with Mr. Harvey. We are contracting with LeRoy for him to administer 
the Township’s 2025 Fall Recycling Event and train existing Township staff during the process to 
transition these duties back in-house for 2026.  
 
The contract provides for compensation of $40 per hour, which is consistent with the 
compensation Mr. Harvey was receiving when he retired from the Township early this year. The 
Fall Recycling event is scheduled to be held on September 20, 2025 and the contract will expire on 
October 4, 2025.  
 
We are happy to answer any questions the Board may have.  
 
The following motion has been prepared for the Board’s consideration: 
 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE CONTRACT WITH LEROY HARVEY AND DIRECT THE 
TOWNSHIP SUPERVISOR AND CLERK TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT. 

 
Attachment: 
 

1. Independent Contractor Agreement 



 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
 

This Agreement is entered into as of the   day of   2025, between 
LeRoy Harvey, an independent contractor, (“Contractor”) and Meridian Charter Township, 
(“Township”). 

 
1. SERVICES CONTRACTED- The Township agrees to engage the services of Contractor 

as an Independent Contractor, to coordinate and administer operational aspects of the 
Township’s 2025 Fall Recycling Event (“Event”), including the training of Township 
employees, the Contractor shall:  

A. Present and propose a budget, utilizing a Township provided template, which shall 
include signed W-9 forms and a current certificate of insurance for all vendors, for the 
Event no less than 30 days prior to September 20, 2025.   

B. Provide all receipts and invoices to the Township from vendors within 5 business days of 
receiving the invoice or receipt.  

C.  Prepare and provide the Township with a summary of the Event, prior to the expiration 
of this Agreement, which shall include, among other things, the following: 

i. Quantity of materials that were collected and recycled.  
ii. An estimated number of people who attended the Event.  

iii. A written record of volunteers who participated in the Event, including their 
name, home phone, cell phone, email and physical address.  

iv. A written record of volunteers who participated in the Township’s spring and 
fall recycling events historically, including their name, home phone, cell 
phone, email and physical address. 

v. A written record of vendors who have been involved in the spring and fall 
recycling events over the previous 5 years, including the vendor’s full legal 
name, name of the primary contact, work phone, cell phone, email, physical 
address and a detailed description of the services they have provided for 
these events. 

D. The Parties may mutually agree to add, remove, or modify the scope of services under 
this Agreement.  

 
2.  RESPONSIBILITIES- Contractor represents that they have the necessary training and 

experience to administer and manage the operational aspects of the Event. Township and 
Contractor will mutually agree to a suitable work schedule, which may be amended from 
time to time.  

 
3. TERM-This Agreement shall expire on October 4, 2025, unless earlier terminated by 

either party. This Agreement may be terminated: 
 

A. By the Township: If Contractor fails to perform the services in a manner that complies 
with the requirements of this Agreement or that are otherwise unsatisfactory, or if 
Contractor otherwise breaches its obligations under this Agreement; or 

 
B. By Contractor: if the Township fails to make such payments as may be due under this 

Agreement or if the Township otherwise breaches its obligations hereunder. 



 

 
C. By either party: with 60 days’ written notice to the other party. 

 
If either party determines that the other has breached this Agreement, the breaching party 
shall have thirty (30) days to cure such breach before the Agreement is terminated except 
that this Agreement is subject to immediate termination for incidents of nonfeasance, 
misfeasance, malfeasance, or criminal acts of Contractor in the performance of services 
under this Agreement. 

4. COMPENSATION- The Township shall pay $40.00 per hour in exchange for 
Contractor’s services. Contractor shall track all hours worked in a written record provided 
by the Township and submit such record to the Township to receive compensation. 
Contractor shall be paid on a monthly basis. 

5. GENERAL SUPERVISION – Contractor retains the right to direct the way tasks or 
services described herein are to be performed. Subject to the foregoing, the Township 
retains the right to audit the work at intervals of its own choosing, to stop work, prescribe 
alterations, and generally approve the work to ensure conformity with the terms specified 
in this Agreement.  

 
6. ASSIGNMENTS- Contractor shall not assign any rights or delegate or subcontract any 

obligations under this Agreement. Any assignment shall terminate this Agreement 
immediately. The Contractor’s utilization of any retained staff of the Contractor does not 
constitute an assignment of this Agreement.  

 
7. REQUIRED TAXES, INSURANCES, FEES AND DOCUMENTS- Contractor agrees 

that operates as an independent entity from the Township and pays any federal, state, local, 
social security, Medicare and unemployment taxes, liability and workers’ compensation 
insurance premiums, and license or permit fees necessary to conduct business. Contractor 
agrees the Township will not be responsible for any such taxes, insurances, fees or other 
costs. Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless from any liability for, or 
assessment of, any taxes imposed on Contractor by relevant taxing authorities. 

 
8. RETIREMENT- The Parties acknowledge that Contractor participated in a retirement plan 

while employed with the Township. Contractor acknowledges that this Agreement could 
impact his present ability to receive distributions. Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold 
the Township harmless for any consequences this Agreement may have on his retirement 
benefit. Contractor will comply with all requirements of the retirement plan as well as state 
and federal law as they may apply to his retirement benefit. Contractor acknowledges that he 
was advised to speak to an independent advisor of his choosing as to this Agreement’s impact 
(if any) on his retirement benefit.  

 
9. RETURN OF TOWNSHIP PROPERTY: Upon termination of this Agreement, or at the 

request of the Township any and all property in Contractor’s possession or control belonging 
to the Township, including but not limited to, proprietary information, intellectual property, 
computers, equipment, pass keys, electronic access such as passwords, documents, plans, 
recordings, software and all related records and/or financial information.  

 
10. INDEMNIFICATION- To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor will defend, 

indemnify and hold harmless the Township, its elected officials, employees and 
volunteers and others working on behalf of the Township against any and all claims, suits, 



 

damages, losses, or expenses, including but not limited to attorney’s fees, arising out of 
or resulting from the performance of the services, provided that any such claim, damage, 
loss or expense is caused in whole or in part by any negligent act or omission of 
Contractor, any subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or 
anyone whose acts any of them may be liable, regardless of whether or not it is caused in 
part by the Township indemnified hereunder. 

 
11.  CONFIDENTIALITY- In this role, Contractor may encounter confidential information. 

Contractor agrees not to use any confidential information disclosed in course of the duties 
prescribed under this Agreement for any purpose other than to carry out the undertakings 
of this Agreement. Contractor shall not disclose or permit any disclosure of any 
confidential information pertaining to the Township. Contractor agrees to take all 
reasonable efforts to protect the secrecy of confidential information. Contractor further 
agrees to notify the Township in writing of any actual or suspected misuse, 
misappropriation, or unauthorized disclosure of confidential information that comes to her 
attention. Nothing in this Paragraph shall prevent Contractor from disclosing confidential 
information that has already been disclosed by the Township, that is subject to disclosure 
under state and federal law, or that Contractor is required to disclose by order of a court, 
administrative agency or other governmental body. In the event Contractor is legally 
compelled to disclose such information, the Contractor shall provide notice to the 
Township of the compulsion to permit the Township to seek a protective order or otherwise 
prevent such disclosure. 

 
12. NO JOINT VENTURE- This Agreement is not intended to be, and will not be construed 

as, a joint venture, partnership or other formal business organization. Neither party shall 
have the right or obligation to make any commitments or incur any obligations on behalf 
of the other party. 

 
13. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR- While performing under this Agreement, each party 

shall act in the capacity of an independent entity and not as an employee of the other party. 
Contractor is an independent contractor and shall not be considered at any time to be an 
employee of the Township notwithstanding the fact that Contractor may be employed at 
the Township in a separate capacity. Contractor shall not receive any benefits or insurances 
provided by the Township to its employees.  

 
14. BUSINESS OF INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR- Contractor may engage in any other 

business and is not required to devote all of their energies exclusively for the benefit of the 
Township. 

 
15. NO OFFICAL DUTIES- Contractor shall have no official duties under the terms of this 

Agreement nor shall Contractor be deemed to hold any elective or appointed office with 
the Township by virtue of same. No oath of office shall be required as a condition of this 
Agreement and no roll or other official or statutorily required document of the Township 
shall be authored or executed by Contractor in its capacity as an independent contractor. 

 
16.  COPIES OF DOCUMENTS- Contractor agrees to provide copies of any or all requested 

documents confirming Contractor’s business status including, but not by way of limitation, 
copies of incorporation paper, workers’ compensation insurance, and liability insurance, if 
any, upon written request from the Township. 

 



 

17. SEVERABILITY-The provisions of this Agreement are severable. Should any provision 
of this Agreement be declared unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the 
remainder, which shall be enforced according to its terms. 

 
18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT- This Agreement contains all the terms and conditions 

governing Contractor’s services to the Township as an independent contractor. All 
representations, prior agreements, and promises (whether in writing or oral) are merged 
into this Agreement, which may only be modified by a writing signed by both parties. 

 
19.  WAIVER-The waiver of a breach or violation of any provision of this Agreement will not 

operate as or be construed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach. 
 

20. GOVERNING LAW-This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Michigan. Jurisdiction and venue are proper in Ingham 
County, Michigan for all claims which may arise out of or relate to this Agreement. 

 
21.  CONSULTATION- Both Parties have carefully read this Agreement and have had the 

opportunity to consult with their respective attorneys or advisors, understand its contents, 
and sign voluntarily. 

 
22. DRAFTING- This Agreement shall be deemed to have been drafted by all Parties. 
 
 

Agreed: 
 
 
______________________________ 
LeRoy Harvey, Contractor 
 

 
______________________________ 
Date 

 
______________________________ 
Scott Hendrickson, 
Township Supervisor 
 

 
______________________________ 
Date 

 
______________________________ 
Angela Demas, 
Township Clerk 

 
______________________________ 
Date 

 



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

9.H

To: Board Members 

From: Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP 
Director of Community Planning and Development 

Date: July 20, 2025 

Re: Planned Unit Development 25-012 – 3560 Hulett Road – 
Set Public Hearing 

In mid-2022, the Planning Commission recommended approval of and the Township Board 
ultimately approved a proposal to redevelop the property at 3560 Hulett Road, commonly known 
as the Netzloff Farm. This was done under a Planned Unit Development and gave the applicant two 
years to start construction or ask for a time extension on the approval. The applicant did not request 
an extension, nor have they started construction, so the previous approval has expired.  The 
applicant has now resubmitted the exact same proposal for review. The Planning Commission 
recommended approval on June 23rd after a public hearing on the matter.  

In the intervening two years, the applicant has worked through all their engineering issues and are 
much closer to starting construction at this point. Additionally, they have removed all of the 
structures on the site that were previously proposed to be removed. The farmhouse has been 
retained, which will be sold as an individual lot in the development. Five other developable lots 
would be created through the project, around a small cul-de-sac, for a total of six homes. Public 
sewer and water are available for the development and the site is five acres in size. The applicant is 
utilizing the Planned Unit Development approach to development, which allows them to create lots 
that are similar in size to the surrounding development to the north and east, while preserving over 
50% of the project area as open space.  

Planned Unit Development proposals require public hearings at both the Planning Commission and 
Township Board level in order to be considered. Staff has provided the following recommended 
motion to set the public hearing and continue to move the project forward. The matter will be back in 
front of the Board for discussion at the August 19th meeting.  

Move to set the public hearing for PUD 25-012, 3560 Hulett Road, Giguere Homes, 
for the August 19, 2025 Township Board meeting.  

Attachments 
1. June 23, 2025 Planning Commission Packet Information
2. June 9, 2025 Planning Commission Packet Information



 

 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Brian Shorkey, AICP, Senior Planner 
 
Date:  June 23, 2025 
 
Re: Planned Unit Development #25012 (Hulett Road Estate), develop a PUD 

consisting of 6 single family residential lots on approximately 5 acres located 
at 5360 Hulett Road, north of Jolly Road. 

 
 
Giguerre Homes has submitted a planned unit development (PUD) proposal at the property at 3560 
Hulett Road. This submission follows the expiration of the previously PUD approved on the site 
(PUD #22-014, August 4, 2022). The PUD proposal includes the construction of five new detached 
single-family homes on approximately 5 acres located on Hulett Road, along with the preservation 
of the existing residence. Access to the six properties is from a proposed private cul-de-sac. A water 
feature, called Paxton Pond, is included in the permanently preserved open space.   
 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing for this application on June 9, 2025 and, after 
discussion and public comment, indicated support for the project. A condition to observe applicable 
county and state regulations for road load limits has been added to the resolution in response to the 
public hearing comments. The Planning Commission asked the applicant for an updates from the 
Ingham County Road Department and the Ingham County Drain Commission. Communications from 
those agencies to the applicant are attached. 
 
The intent of the PUD ordinance is to permit greater flexibility and more creative design of 
residential developments than is possible under conventional zoning regulations. The PUD 
ordinance allows a developer to propose a residential project with diverse housing types and 
different lot dimensions and yard setbacks as those prescribed in the underlying zoning district. Lot 
size, yards, frontage requirements, setbacks, building height, and type and size of dwelling unit 
restrictions are generally waived in a PUD. In exchange for the flexible standards, a minimum of 50% 
of the project area, excluding wetlands and floodplains, must be preserved as open space. 
 
Planning Commission Options 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval as written, recommend approval of a revised 
version, or recommend denial of the proposed Planning Unit Development. The ultimate approval 
or denial of the PUD application is up to the Board of Trustees. 
 
A resolution to approve the request is provided. Staff recommends approval of the Planned Unit 
Development to the construction of five new detached single-family homes on approximately 5 
acres located on Hulett Road, along with the preservation of the existing residence at 5360 Hulett 
Road, with the conditions listed in the resolution. 
 
If the project is approved by the Township Board, the applicant will be required to submit for Site Plan 
Review before any work on the site can begin. Site Plan Review is a detailed staff level analysis of the 
project which includes reviews of stormwater, utilities, landscaping, grading, and other issues to ensure 



 
Planned Unit Development #25012 (Hulett Road Estates) 
Planning Commission (June 23, 2025) 
Page 2 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

compliance with all applicable ordinances as well as confirmation of approvals from local agencies such 
as the Ingham County Drain Commissioner’s Office and Road Department. The applicant must begin 
construction of the PUD within two years of a final site plan approval.  The Planning Commission may 
grant one, one-year extension of the PUD if requested prior to its expiration. 
 
Move to adopt the resolution recommending approval of Planned Unit Development #25012 
to allow for the construction of five new detached single-family homes on approximately 5 
acres located on Hulett Road, along with the preservation of the existing residence at 5360 
Hulett Road, subject to the conditions found in the resolution to approve, for the following 
reasons: 
 

• The proposed Planned Unit Development conforms with the Township Zoning Ordinance and 
Master Plan 

• The proposed Planned Unit Development meets the requirements of the standards found in 
Sec. 86-439 – Planned Unit Development 

• The applicant has agreed to the condition to follow state and county regulations for road load 
limits.  

 
Attachments 
1. Resolution to recommend approval. 
2. Memo from the Ingham County Road Department, dated May 1, 2025. 
3. Email from the Ingham County Drain Commission, dated August 8, 2024. 
4. Staff Memo, Dated June 9, 2025. 
 
 



RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND APPROVAL Planned Unit Development #25012 
 (Hulett Road Estates) 
 
 
 At a regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 23rd 
day of June, 2025, at 6:30 p.m., Local Time. 
 
PRESENT:  
 
ABSENT:   
 
 The following resolution was offered by __________ and supported by __________. 
 
 WHEREAS, Jim Giguere has submitted a request to establish a planned unit development 
(PUD) at 3560 Hulett Road, known as Hulett Road Estates; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed planned unit development includes the construction of 5 detached 
single-family residential homes and the preservation of one existing single-family residential home on 
six lots on approximately 5 acres located on Hulett Road (Tax ID #32-400-012); and  
 

WHEREAS, the subject site is appropriately zoned RA (Single Family – Medium Density), 
which allows for a planned unit development; and 

 
WHEREAS, the approximate 1.2 dwelling units per acre (du/a) density of the proposed 

development is consistent with the Suburban Residential Future Land Use Map designation from 
the 2013 Master Plan; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing at its regular meeting on June 9, 
2025, and has reviewed staff material forwarded under cover memorandums dated June 9, 2025 
and June 23, 2025; and 
   

WHEREAS, the proposed planned unit development provides adequate buffering between 
the development and adjacent residential land uses to the north and east; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed planned unit development meets the minimum PUD performance 
objective to preserve at least 50% of the project area, excluding wetlands and floodplains, as open 
space; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed planned unit development will be harmonious and similar in 
character with the existing residential developments to the north and east of the subject site; and 

 
WHEREAS, the requested waivers for building setbacks are necessary to facilitate 

preservation of open space; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed planned unit development will be adequately served by public 

water and sanitary sewer; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed planned unit development meets the minimum PUD performance 

objectives as stated in Section 86-439(b) of the Code of Ordinances; and 
 



Resolution to Recommend Approval 
PUD #25012 (Hulett Road Estates) 
Page 2 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed development is consistent with the goal of focusing development 
into previously developed sites within the Urban Service Boundary, as found in the 2023 Master 
Plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed development is consistent with the goal of expanding 

opportunities for cluster development to preserve environmentally significant areas, as found in 
the 2023 Master Plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed planned unit development is consistent with the goal of promoting 

infill development along the main vehicular corridors in the Township, as found in the 2023 Master 
Plan. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CHARTER 

TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby recommends approval of Planned Unit Development #25012, 
subject to the following conditions. 
 
1. Approval is in accordance with the submitted site plan prepared by Enger Engineering, revised 

on May 5, 2025 and received by the Township on May 15, 2025. 
 

2. The waivers requested for lot size and building setbacks are recommended for approval as 
depicted on the submitted site plan prepared by Enger Engineering, revised on May 5, 2025 and 
received by the Township on May 15, 2025. 

 
3. The applicant shall obtain all necessary permits, licenses, and approvals from the Ingham 

County Road Department, Ingham County Drain Commissioner, and the Township, as 
applicable. Copies of all permits and approval letters shall be submitted to the Department of 
Community Planning and Development prior to site plan approval. 

 
4. All construction traffic associated with the project shall observe all county and state regulations 

for load limits. 
 

5. The utility, grading, and storm drainage plans for the site are subject to the approval of the 
Director of Public Works and Engineering and Ingham County Drain Commissioner and shall be 
completed in accordance with the Township Engineering Design and Construction Standards. 
 

6. No grading or land clearing shall take place on the site until the site plan has been approved by 
the Director of Community Planning and Development and grading and soil erosion and 
sedimentation control (SESC) permits have been issued for the project. 

 
7. The proposed private drive in the development shall be built to Ingham County Road 

Department construction standards and shall be subject to the approval of the Director of 
Public Works and Engineering.  
 

8. Any wetland boundaries or setbacks located on or adjacent to residential lots shall be clearly 
identified by posted signage notifying the property owner of restrictions related to grading, 
mowing, placement of structures, landscaping, and dumping in the wetlands. The size, number, 
location, and language of the signs shall be subject to the approval of the Director of Community 
Planning and Development. 
 

9. The applicant shall construct the required seven-foot-wide pathway along the east side of the 
Hulett Road frontage of the properties included in the development. The pathway shall be 



Resolution to Recommend Approval 
PUD #25012 (Hulett Road Estates) 
Page 3 
 

designed and constructed in accordance with Township Engineering and Construction 
standards. The design and location of the pathway shall be subject to the approval of the 
Director of Public Works and Engineering.   
 

10. Street trees shall be provided along all internal roads in the development. The species, size, and 
location of the street trees shall be subject to the approval of the Director of Community 
Planning and Development. 
 

11. The open space shall be reserved or dedicated by lease or conveyance of title, including 
beneficial ownership, to a corporation, association, or other legal entity or by reservation by 
means of a restrictive covenant. 

 
ADOPTED: YEAS:  
                                                                                             
  NAYS:                         
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Chair of the Planning Commission of the 
Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is 
a true and a complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Planning Commission 
on the 23rd day of June, 2025. 
 
 
       ______________________________   
       Alisande Shrewsbury 
       Planning Commission Chair 
 
 









 

 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Brian Shorkey, AICP, Principal Planner 
 
Date:  June 9, 2025 
 
Re: Planned Unit Development #25012 (Hulett Road Estate), develop PUD 

consisting of 6 single family residential lots on approximately 5 acres located 
at 5360 Hulett Road, north of Jolly Road. 

 
 
Giguerre Homes has submitted a planned unit development (PUD) proposal at the property at 3560 
Hulett Road. This submission follows the expiration of the previously PUD approved on the site 
(PUD #22-014, August 4, 2022). The PUD proposal includes the construction of five new detached 
single-family homes on approximately 5 acres located on Hulett Road, along with the preservation 
of the existing residence. Access to the six properties is from a proposed private cul-de-sac. A water 
feature, called Paxton Pond, is included in the permanently preserved open space.   
 
The intent of the PUD ordinance is to permit greater flexibility and more creative design of 
residential developments than is possible under conventional zoning regulations. A minimum of 
50% of the project area, excluding wetlands and floodplains, must be preserved as open space. 
 
Zoning 
The subject property is located in the RA 
(Single Family-Medium Density) zoning 
district. A PUD is allowed in any 
residential zoning district on any sized 
property. Detached single family homes 
are proposed. The properties to the 
north, east, and south are also zoned RA 
while the property to the west, Okemos 
High School, is zoned Rural Residential. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Zoning 



 
Planned Unit Development #25012 (Hulett Road Estates) 
Planning Commission (June 9, 2025) 
Page 2 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Master Plan 
The property is designated on the Future 
Land Use Map from the 2023 Master Plan 
as Suburban Residential. The RA zoning 
correlates with the Future Land Use 
designation. The same Future Land Use 
designation applied to the properties to 
the north, east, and south. The property 
to the west is Okemos High School and is 
designated as Institutional. 
 
Physical Features 
The site contains the historical 
farmhouse, as well as Paxton Pond. The 
Township GIS data shows the presence of 
a wetland on the property, associated 
with the pond. The wetland is 1.04 acres 
in size and was delineated in April 2022. 
The entire wetland lies within the 
protected open space and all 
development is outside of the required 
40-foot setback. The Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) for Meridian Township indicates there are no 
floodplains on the property.   
 
Streets and Traffic 
The subject site is located on the east side of Hulett Road. Hulett Road is a two-lane road designated 
as a Collector Street on the Street Setbacks and Service Drives Map in the zoning ordinance. The 
2023 Master Plan shows a proposed seven-foot pathway and paved shoulders on Hulett Road. If the 
PUD is approved, the applicant will be required to construct sidewalks on the proposed cul-de-sac 
on the subject property if. Those sidewalks will be required to connect to the Hulett Road pathway.  
 
The applicant included an email from the Ingham County Road Department (ICRD) dated March 8, 
2022. The email indicates that the ICRD is willing to approve a single private road entrance, 
assuming that the entrance complies with other ICRD requirements. Specifics of the private road 
design will be considered during site plan approval, if the PUD is approved.  
 
Utilities 
Municipal water is available in the vicinity of the subject site. Municipal sewer is located across Hulett 
Road and would have to be extended to serve the proposed development. The location and capacity of 
utilities for any proposed development will be reviewed in detail by the Department of Public Works 
and Engineering during the Site Plan Review process. 
 
The applicant included an email from the Ingham County Drain Commission (ICDC) date June 7, 2022. 
While it was not a formal review of the PUD application, the ICDC did indicate that there are no county 
drain outlets on the Subject Property and that landowner easements could potentially meet the ICDC 

Future Land Use 



 
Planned Unit Development #25012 (Hulett Road Estates) 
Planning Commission (June 9, 2025) 
Page 3 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

requirements for stormwater discharge. Specifics of the stormwater design will be considered during 
site plan approval, if the PUD is approved. 
 
Planned Unit Development Standards 
Planning Staff is providing the minimum PUD performance objectives for planned unit developments 
for the Planning Commission’s review, as found in Sec. 86-439 in the zoning ordinance. Staff will 
provide a more thorough review at a future meeting. 
 

1. All applications shall provide for buffering between any conflicting feature of the design and 
adjacent residential land use. 

2. All applications shall ensure good internal and external pedestrian accessibility with a 
minimum of conflicting points with the vehicular circulation system.  

3. All applications shall minimize the cost of street construction and associated maintenance 
costs while adhering to official Township construction standards. 

4. All applications shall consider convenient access to public transportation. 
5. All applications shall minimize the cost of utility construction and associated maintenance 

costs while adhering to construction standards. 
6. All applications shall take advantage of natural vegetation and topographic characteristics 

to promote natural air conditioning and enhancement of air quality.  
7. All applications should enhance and preserve wildlife habitat, with special attention to 

wetlands and other unique habitats.  
8. Except in unusual circumstances, stormwater runoff induced by the proposed development 

shall be detained for storage and infiltration on the site. 
9. All applications shall provide for active and/or passive recreation on the site in harmony 

with the character of the open space. 
10. A minimum of 50% of the project area allowed for density determination, excluding 

wetlands and floodplains, shall be provided as open space. Deliberate efforts must be made 
to preserve important landscape features and amenities of long term value and use these 
features as key components of design.  

11. All applications shall contain a housing type or types sufficient in number to maintain a 
harmonious relationship with important site features, structures and adjacent land uses and 
represent quality in design.  

12. All applications shall demonstrate that there is adequate capacity of public streets, sewer 
and water facilities to serve the development.  

 
Planning Commission Options 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval as written, recommend approval of a revised 
version, or recommend denial of the proposed zoning amendment. The ultimate approval or denial 
of the PUD application is up to the Board of Trustees. Staff will provide a resolution at a future 
meeting after collecting the Planning Commission and the public comments and fully reviewing the 
application. 
 
Attachments 
1. Application. 



 
Planned Unit Development #25012 (Hulett Road Estates) 
Planning Commission (June 9, 2025) 
Page 4 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

2. Site plan prepared by Enger Engineering, dated May 5, 2025 and received by the Township June 
May 13, 2025. 

3. Email from the Ingham County Drain Commission, dated June 7, 2022. 
4. Email from the Ingham County Road Department, dated March 8, 2022. 
5. Wetland Assessment prepared by Fishbeck, dated June 15, 2022. 
6. Previous approval letter for PUD #22-014. 



 

 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Brian Shorkey, AICP, Principal Planner 
 
Date:  June 9, 2025 
 
Re: Planned Unit Development #25012 (Hulett Road Estate), develop PUD 

consisting of 6 single family residential lots on approximately 5 acres located 
at 5360 Hulett Road, north of Jolly Road. 

 
 
Giguerre Homes has submitted a planned unit development (PUD) proposal at the property at 3560 
Hulett Road. This submission follows the expiration of the previously PUD approved on the site 
(PUD #22-014, August 4, 2022). The PUD proposal includes the construction of five new detached 
single-family homes on approximately 5 acres located on Hulett Road, along with the preservation 
of the existing residence. Access to the six properties is from a proposed private cul-de-sac. A water 
feature, called Paxton Pond, is included in the permanently preserved open space.   
 
The intent of the PUD ordinance is to permit greater flexibility and more creative design of 
residential developments than is possible under conventional zoning regulations. A minimum of 
50% of the project area, excluding wetlands and floodplains, must be preserved as open space. 
 
Zoning 
The subject property is located in the RA 
(Single Family-Medium Density) zoning 
district. A PUD is allowed in any 
residential zoning district on any sized 
property. Detached single family homes 
are proposed. The properties to the 
north, east, and south are also zoned RA 
while the property to the west, Okemos 
High School, is zoned Rural Residential. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Zoning 



 
Planned Unit Development #25012 (Hulett Road Estates) 
Planning Commission (June 9, 2025) 
Page 2 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Master Plan 
The property is designated on the Future 
Land Use Map from the 2023 Master Plan 
as Suburban Residential. The RA zoning 
correlates with the Future Land Use 
designation. The same Future Land Use 
designation applied to the properties to 
the north, east, and south. The property 
to the west is Okemos High School and is 
designated as Institutional. 
 
Physical Features 
The site contains the historical 
farmhouse, as well as Paxton Pond. The 
Township GIS data shows the presence of 
a wetland on the property, associated 
with the pond. The wetland is 1.04 acres 
in size and was delineated in April 2022. 
The entire wetland lies within the 
protected open space and all 
development is outside of the required 
40-foot setback. The Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) for Meridian Township indicates there are no 
floodplains on the property.   
 
Streets and Traffic 
The subject site is located on the east side of Hulett Road. Hulett Road is a two-lane road designated 
as a Collector Street on the Street Setbacks and Service Drives Map in the zoning ordinance. The 
2023 Master Plan shows a proposed seven-foot pathway and paved shoulders on Hulett Road. If the 
PUD is approved, the applicant will be required to construct sidewalks on the proposed cul-de-sac 
on the subject property if. Those sidewalks will be required to connect to the Hulett Road pathway.  
 
The applicant included an email from the Ingham County Road Department (ICRD) dated March 8, 
2022. The email indicates that the ICRD is willing to approve a single private road entrance, 
assuming that the entrance complies with other ICRD requirements. Specifics of the private road 
design will be considered during site plan approval, if the PUD is approved.  
 
Utilities 
Municipal water is available in the vicinity of the subject site. Municipal sewer is located across Hulett 
Road and would have to be extended to serve the proposed development. The location and capacity of 
utilities for any proposed development will be reviewed in detail by the Department of Public Works 
and Engineering during the Site Plan Review process. 
 
The applicant included an email from the Ingham County Drain Commission (ICDC) date June 7, 2022. 
While it was not a formal review of the PUD application, the ICDC did indicate that there are no county 
drain outlets on the Subject Property and that landowner easements could potentially meet the ICDC 

Future Land Use 



 
Planned Unit Development #25012 (Hulett Road Estates) 
Planning Commission (June 9, 2025) 
Page 3 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

requirements for stormwater discharge. Specifics of the stormwater design will be considered during 
site plan approval, if the PUD is approved. 
 
Planned Unit Development Standards 
Planning Staff is providing the minimum PUD performance objectives for planned unit developments 
for the Planning Commission’s review, as found in Sec. 86-439 in the zoning ordinance. Staff will 
provide a more thorough review at a future meeting. 
 

1. All applications shall provide for buffering between any conflicting feature of the design and 
adjacent residential land use. 

2. All applications shall ensure good internal and external pedestrian accessibility with a 
minimum of conflicting points with the vehicular circulation system.  

3. All applications shall minimize the cost of street construction and associated maintenance 
costs while adhering to official Township construction standards. 

4. All applications shall consider convenient access to public transportation. 
5. All applications shall minimize the cost of utility construction and associated maintenance 

costs while adhering to construction standards. 
6. All applications shall take advantage of natural vegetation and topographic characteristics 

to promote natural air conditioning and enhancement of air quality.  
7. All applications should enhance and preserve wildlife habitat, with special attention to 

wetlands and other unique habitats.  
8. Except in unusual circumstances, stormwater runoff induced by the proposed development 

shall be detained for storage and infiltration on the site. 
9. All applications shall provide for active and/or passive recreation on the site in harmony 

with the character of the open space. 
10. A minimum of 50% of the project area allowed for density determination, excluding 

wetlands and floodplains, shall be provided as open space. Deliberate efforts must be made 
to preserve important landscape features and amenities of long term value and use these 
features as key components of design.  

11. All applications shall contain a housing type or types sufficient in number to maintain a 
harmonious relationship with important site features, structures and adjacent land uses and 
represent quality in design.  

12. All applications shall demonstrate that there is adequate capacity of public streets, sewer 
and water facilities to serve the development.  

 
Planning Commission Options 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval as written, recommend approval of a revised 
version, or recommend denial of the proposed zoning amendment. The ultimate approval or denial 
of the PUD application is up to the Board of Trustees. Staff will provide a resolution at a future 
meeting after collecting the Planning Commission and the public comments and fully reviewing the 
application. 
 
Attachments 
1. Application. 



 
Planned Unit Development #25012 (Hulett Road Estates) 
Planning Commission (June 9, 2025) 
Page 4 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

2. Site plan prepared by Enger Engineering, dated May 5, 2025 and received by the Township June 
May 13, 2025. 

3. Email from the Ingham County Drain Commission, dated June 7, 2022. 
4. Email from the Ingham County Road Department, dated March 8, 2022. 
5. Wetland Assessment prepared by Fishbeck, dated June 15, 2022. 
6. Previous approval letter for PUD #22-014. 







































Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
 

 Patricia Herring Jackson Supervisor  Courtney Wisinski Trustee 
 Deborah Guthrie Clerk  Kathy Ann Sundland Trustee 
 Phil Deschaine Treasurer  Marna Wilson  Trustee 
 Frank L. Walsh Manager  Scott Hendrickson Trustee 

 

 

August 5, 2022 
 
Giguere Homes 
Jim Giguere 
6200 Pine Hollow Drive, Ste. 100 
East Lansing, MI 48823 
 
RE:   Planned Unit Development #22-014 (3560 Hulett) 
  
Dear Mr. Giguere: 
 
At its meeting on August 4, 2022 the Township Board approved Planned Unit Development (PUD) #20014 
for the Planned Unit Development (PUD) application at 3560 Hulett Road. The PUD was approved subject 
to the following conditions: 
 

1. Approval is in accordance with the submitted site plan prepared by Enger Engineering, revised on June 
6, 2022. 

 
2. The waivers requested for lot size and building setbacks are recommended for approval as depicted on 

the submitted site plan prepared by Enger Engineering. 
 

3. The applicant shall obtain all necessary permits, licenses, and approvals from the Ingham County Road 
Department, Ingham County Drain Commissioner, and the Township, as applicable. Copies of all 
permits and approval letters shall be submitted to the Department of Community Planning and 
Development. 

 
4. The utility, grading, and storm drainage plans for the site are subject to the approval of the Director of 

Public Works and Engineering and Ingham County Drain Commissioner and shall be completed in 
accordance with the Township Engineering Design and Construction Standards. 

 
5. No grading or land clearing shall take place on the site until the site plan has been approved by the 

Director of Community Planning and Development and grading and soil erosion and sedimentation 
control (SESC) permits have been issued for the project. 

 
6. The proposed roads in the development shall be built to Ingham County Road Department 

construction standards and shall be subject to the approval of the Director of Public Works and 
Engineering.  

 
7. Any wetland boundaries or setbacks located on or adjacent to residential lots shall be clearly identified 

by posted signage notifying the property owner of restrictions related to grading, mowing, placement 
of structures, landscaping, and dumping in the wetlands. The size, number, location, and language of 
the signs shall be subject to the approval of the Director of Community Planning and Development. 

 
8. The applicant shall construct the required seven-foot-wide pathway along the east side of the Hulett 

Road frontage of the properties included in the development. The pathway shall be designed and 
constructed in accordance with Township Engineering and Construction standards. The design and 



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

Planned Unit Development #22-014 (3560 Hulett) 
Page 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

location of the pathway shall be subject to the approval of the Director of Public Works and 
Engineering.   

 
9. Street trees shall be provided along all internal roads in the development and along Hulett Road. The 

species, size, and location of the street trees shall be subject to the approval of the Director of 
Community Planning and Development. 

 
10. The open space shall be reserved or dedicated by lease or conveyance of title, including beneficial 

ownership, to a corporation, association, or other legal entity or by reservation by means of a 
restrictive covenant or conservation easement. 
 

11. Screening shall be required along the rear of lots C, D, E, and F, subject to the approval of the Director 
of Community Planning and Development. 

 
The next step in the process to construct the PUD is submittal for Site Plan Review. No construction shall 
commence prior to Site Plan Review approval and issuance of all necessary permits. The effective date of 
PUD #22014 is the date of the Township Board’s approval, August 4, 2022. Construction of the PUD must 
commence within two years of final Site Plan Review approval or the PUD approval shall be void except 
one, one-year extension may be considered by the Planning Commission if a written request is submitted to 
the Department of Community Planning and Development prior to the expiration date. 
 
If you have any question regarding this matter, please contact me at (517) 853-4576 or 
shorkey@meridian.mi.us. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Brian J. Shorkey, AICP 
Senior Planner 
 
cc: Timothy Schmitt, AICP, Community Planning & Development Director 

John Heckaman, Chief Building Inspector 
 Younes Ishraidi, Chief Engineer 
 Tavis Millerov, Fire Inspector 

 



 

10. A 

To:  Board Members 
 
From:  Courtney Wisinski, Director Parks & Recreation 
 
  Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager 
  Director of Public Works & Engineering 
 
Date:  August 4, 2025 
 
Re:  Meridian Mall Parking Lot Resurfacing Agreement  
 
 

Due to the significant deterioration of the parking lot, the property owner, CBL, resurfaced the 
parking lot immediately south of the Marketplace on the Green on July 20, 2025 and has asked if 
the Township would be willing to contribute toward the cost of resurfacing the portion used for 
public parking at the Marketplace on the Green, as shown below: 
 

 
 
As a part of the operating agreement that was executed when the land was acquired to construct 
the Marketplace on the Green, a parking lot easement was granted, which states: 

a. Parking. Developer hereby grants and conveys for the use and 
benefit of the Benefited Parcel, and appurtenant to and running with the title 
to the Benefited Parcel and the Property, a non­ exclusive, perpetual easement 
for vehicular parking over, across, and upon the paved parking areas located 
on the Property, as the same may exist from time to time, except that 
Developer shall work in good faith with the Township to maintain a minimum 
of 200 parking spots on the Property in the size required by applicable 
ordinance. 



 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Memo to Township Board 
August 4, 2025 
Re: Meridian Mall Parking Lot Resurfacing Agreement 
Page 2 

 
While the agreement does not obligate the Township to contribute toward the cost of maintaining 
the parking lot, Township staff recognize the significant public use and benefit of this parking lot to 
the day-to-day operations of the Marketplace on the Green. We are recommending that the 
Township contribute toward the project based on the cost to resurface the 200 parking spaces 
shown above and the adjacent drives. This area is 1.39 acres and the total project area is 2.9 acres.  
 
CBL Properties solicited bids from asphalt contractors for the resurfacing of the parking lot 
immediately south of Marketplace on the Green. The lowest bid, which was approved by CBL, 
totaled $488,495.  
 
At the July 22 meeting, the Board directed staff to negotiate the Township’s contribution below 
$200,000 based on the number of days the parking lot is used for Township events. Based on this 
input, staff have negotiated our contribution down to 40%, or $195,398. Township staff 
recommend using available funding that has already been appropriate by the Board in the Capital 
Project Fund to fund this project. 
 
The Township’s legal counsel has confirmed that public funds may be used to support the 
maintenance of the parking lot adjacent to Marketplace on the Green. However, they recommend 
entering into a separate agreement with CBL to clearly affirm that the Township is not waiving any 
existing rights under the current Operating Agreement. 
 
The Parking Maintenance Agreement drafted by the Township’s legal counsel is included for your 
review.  
 
We are happy to answer any questions you may have. 
 
The following motion has been prepared for the Board’s consideration:  
 

MOVE TO ADOPT THE PARKING MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT AND AUTHORIZE THE 
TOWNSHIP SUPERVISOR AND CLERK TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT. 

 
Attachments: 

1. Parking Maintenance Agreement 
 
 
 
 
  



1 

PARKING MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 
MERIDIAN MALL and MARKETPLACE ON THE GREEN 

 
THIS MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT, made and effective this _____ day of 

___________ 2025 (“Maintenance Agreement”), by and between Meridian Mall Limited 
Partnership (“Developer”) and the Charter Township of Meridian, a Michigan municipal 
corporation, whose address is 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 (“Township”).Developer and 
Township are sometimes referred to herein individually as “Party” and collectively as “Parties.” 
 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Developer and Township entered into an Operating and Easements 
Agreement as of April 1, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, Developer holds interests in and to the parcels of real property described on 
Exhibit A of the Operating and Easements Agreement (the “Property”) and as shown on Exhibit 
B of the Operating and Easements Agreement; and, 

WHEREAS, Township is the fee owner of that certain parcel of land immediately adjacent 
to the Property, located in Okemos, Michigan, and more particularly described on Exhibit A-1 of 
the Operating and Easements Agreement (the “Benefited Property”) and shown on Exhibit B; and 

WHEREAS, Developer and Township set forth their rights, obligations, duties, and 
responsibilities in connection with the development, use, improvements, and operations of the 
Benefited Property and Property in the Operating and Easements Agreement; and 

 WHEREAS, for the use and benefit of the Benefited Parcel, Developer granted a non-
exclusive, perpetual easement for vehicular parking over, across, and upon certain paved parking 
areas located on the Property (the “Parking Easement”), as set forth in the Operating and 
Easements Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, Developer agreed to work in good faith with the Township to maintain for 
the Parking Easement a minimum of 200 parking spots on the Property. 

NOW, Township and Developer have found and agreed as follows: 
A. Township is not required under the Operating and Easements Agreement to fund 

any specific amount of Developer’s maintenance costs regarding the Parking Easement. 
B. Township recognizes the public use and public benefit of the Parking Easement to 

the day-to-day operations of the Benefited Property and the Township’s Marketplace on the Green. 
C. Developer solicited bids for the resurfacing of an approximate 2.9-acre area of the 

Property which is used for parking and is immediately south of the Benefited Parcel. 
D. The lowest asphalt resurfacing bid totaled $488,495.00 for the 2.9-acre project area. 
E. The Parties have worked in good faith to maintain the Parking Easement as set forth 

in the Operating and Easements Agreement to their mutual benefit and the public’s benefit.  
  



2 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and covenants of each, the Parties 
agree as follows: 

 
1. Developer Project. Developer shall undertake and perform the project and the 

resurfacing of the 2.9-acre area identified by the Parties that is immediately south of the Benefited 
Parcel.  

2. Public Use and Benefit. Township agrees to pay a proportional share of the lowest 
project bid to further the public use and public benefit of the Parking Easement. 

3. Proportional Payment. Township shall pay $195,398, or 40 percent, to Developer 
as a proportional share of the project lowest bid. Payments shall be made on a schedule and in 
amounts agreed to by the Parties but in no case shall more the 90% of the amount above be paid 
prior to completion, inspection, and acceptance by the Township of the project. 

4. Additional, Partial Township Consideration. As partial consideration and benefit 
to the Township for its proportional payment above, the project shall include additional 
infrastructure improvements to the Property within the Parking Easement area. Such additional 
infrastructure may include drainage islands and parking spaces in compliance with the federal 
American with Disabilities Act. 

5. Permits. Developer shall secure any permits or authorizations as may be required 
by state or local laws, rules, or regulations—which specifically include Township ordinances. 
Final additional infrastructure and project scope shall be forth in the issued permits. 

6. No Waiver or Amendment. This Maintenance Agreement does not amend or alter 
the Operating and Easements Agreement. This Maintenance Agreement does not waive, alter, or 
amend the Township’s rights, obligations, duties, or responsibilities under the Operating and 
Easements Agreement, and specifically as to any future or additional maintenance or project costs. 
This Agreement is not a course of performance or course of dealing. The rights, obligations, duties, 
and responsibilities of the Parties in connection with the development, use, improvement, and 
operation of the Benefited Property and Property are solely controlled by the Operating and 
Easements Agreement. The Parties agree that the express and specific obligations herein are in 
separate consideration and benefit of the premises and covenants herein. 

7. Authority. Each party hereto represents and warrants to the other that it has full 
power and authority to enter into this Agreement. 
 
 

[Signature Page Follows] 
 

[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank] 
  



3 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Township and Developer have executed this Maintenance 

Agreement effective as of the date first above written. 
 

TOWNSHIP: 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN,  
a Michigan municipal corporation 
 
 
By:         Date:      
 Scott Hendrickson 
Title:  Meridian Township Supervisor 
 
 
 
 

DEVELOPER: 

MERIDIAN MALL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, a 
Michigan limited partnership  

By: Multi-GP Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company, its sole general partner 

By: CBL & Associates Limited Partnership, its 
sole member and chief manager  

By: CBL Holdings I, Inc., its sole general partner 
 
 
By:          Date:      
  
Title:   
 



This instrument was prepared 
by and return Lo: 
CBL & Associates Management, Inc. 
2030 Hamilton Place Boulevard 
CBL Center, Suite 500 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37330 
Attn: Legal Department - JVH 

OPERATING AND EASEMENTS AGREEMENT 

_1 THIS Of ERA TING AND EASEMENTS AGREEMENT ("Agreement"), entered into as of the 
£ day of -+ L , 2019 ("Effective Date '), by MERIDIAN MALL LIMITED 
PARTNERSill , a Michigan limited partnership (' D v I p r '), and the Charter Township of Meridian, 
whose address is 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864, a Michigan municipal corporation, ("Town hip"). 
Developer and Township are sometimes referred to herein individually as "Party" and collectively as 
"Parties." 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Developer holds interests in and to the parcels of real property described on Exltibi1 
A (the' Property') and shown on Exhibit D (less those portions shown shaded thereon), attached hereto 
and made a part hereof, in fee simple as to Parcels I and V and in leasehold as to Parcels II, III, IV, and 
VIII; and, 

WHEREAS, Township is the fee owner of that certain parcel of land immediately adjacent to the 
Property, located in Okemos, Michigan, and more particularly described on E ' libit A-1 (the' Benefited 
Property") and shown on Exhibit B; and, 

WHEREAS, the preliminary site plan attached hereto as Exhibit B (the " ite Plan") shows an 
existing shopping center commonly known as and referred to herein as "Meridian Mall" and the proposed 
development of the Benefited Property by Township hereinafter described; and, 

WHEREAS, Developer, as either the owner in fee simple of certain lands or the lessee under 
certain ground leases of the Property, and Township, as the owner in fee simple of the Benefited Property, 
propose to cause the development of plans for, and the Township shall then cause the construction of, a 
farmers' market pavilion and park development upon the Benefited Parcel, which shall, together with the 
existing Meridian Mall, comprise a unified, regional, shopping center; and, 



WHEREAS, Developer and Township each desire to create certain rights, privileges, and 
easements in and to impose ce1tain restrictions and covenants upon its respective parcel(s) of land for the 
purpose of promoting the orderly development and use of the Benefited Property in a manner compatible 
with Meridian Mall; and, 

WHEREAS, Developer and Township intend to set forth in this Agreement their rights, 
obligations, duties, and responsibilities in connection with the development and use of, and the 
improvements and operations on, the Benefited Prope1ty and Property; 

NOW, THEREFORE, for the premises above and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 

1. Construction and Developme/lt. Developer may request and the Township shall provide 
information regarding any development, construction, reconstruction, or improvement of any building or 
other improvement as provided for herein. The Township will undertake a good faith effort to resolve 
objections raised by Developer, including architectural plans consistent with Meridian Mall. Construction 
and development of the Benefited Property remains subject to this Agreement. 

a. Plans. Upon request by Developer, Township shall submit a complete set of detailed plans and 
specifications therefor, which includes a photometric plan, and which have been stamped/sealed by an 
architect or engineer, including an electronic version thereof with building and civil plans via electronic 
mail or on a computer disk. Such plans and specifications, once approved by relevant municipal authorities, 
are hereinafter referred to as the "Township's Appr ved Plans". 

b. Intentionally 0111itfed. 

c. Coordination. Construction activities, as near as practicable, will be kept within the boundaries 
of the Benefited Property. If the Township desires that any construction activities take place on the Property, 
the Township must obtain Developer's prior written consent. The Township shall take reasonable measures 
to ensure the Property is protected during construction activities. Prior to the commencement of 
construction on the Benefited Property, Developer may request: 

(i) A time schedule of the Township's construction activities; and, 

(ii) At Developer's election, a pre-construction coordination conference shall be held at or 
near the Benefited Property with Developer's representative and Township's contractor. Developer's 
representative and Township's contractor shall attend such conference. 

d. Utilities. Township may place utility facilities outside of the Benefited Property and on the 
Property with written approval of Developer, which will not be unreasonably withheld. Township, at its 
sole cost and expense, shall be responsible for the installation of lines and meters, and to connect utilities 
to the improvements, on the Benefited Property in accordance with applicable utility company and 
governmental requirements, matters of record as of the Effective Date, and any applicable requirements of 
the Township's Approved Plans. In the event that the driveways, parking area and/or outdoor common areas 
of the Property are damaged as a result of the Township's construction activities, including, but not limited 
to, the installation and/or removal of utility lines or related facilities, Township shall promptly repair such 
damage and restore the affected parking areas and outdoor common areas to as close to the condition as 
such area existed immediately prior to the commencement of such construction activity. 

e. Curb Cut. Township's access to the Property shall be along the entire boundary line of the 
Benefited Property as shown on Exhibit .B. 

Page 2 of 16 



f. Signs. Signs on the Benefited Property, whether temporary or permanent, will: 

(i) be consistent with and comply with applicable laws; 

(ii) be professionally designed, constructed, and installed, including being of sturdy, 
durable, non-corrosive materials; and, 

(iii) be maintained at regular and necessary times, in good working order, and shall not be 
allowed to fall into disrepair. 

In addition to the foregoing, no sign shall by its location infringe on the visibility or present a hazard to 
vehicular or pedestrian traffic. Township shall undertake reasonable efforts to not infringe on Property view 
corridors, adjacent properties, setbacks, and non-building areas. The Parties agree that by the nature of the 
operation of a farmers' market and special events conducted by the Township and its vendors at the farmers' 
market pavilion, the Township and its vendors may erect temporary signs which shall not be erected for 
more than thirty (30) days before or after a single event. 

g. Grade. Changes to the grade of the Benefited Property shall not obstruct the visibility of 
improvements or signs on the Property or any other lands adjoining the Property. 

h. Compliance with Laws. All construction on the Benefited Property pursuant to this Agreement 
shall be performed in compliance with all laws, rules, orders, zoning ordinances, regulations, statutes, 
resolutions, approvals and requirements of all governmental or quasi-governmental authorities and the 
Board of Fire Underwriters or of any similarly constituted body. 

i. Mechanical Equipment. Any mechanical equipment or improvement that is located on the 
Benefited Property, including the roof of any building, shall be properly screened and enclosed in an 
architecturally and aesthetically pleasing manner. 

j. onduct o( onslnu.:lion. All construction shall be planned and carried on so as to reduce 
congestion or blocking of any driveways or other outdoor common areas in the Property and at all times, 
all such driveways and outdoor common areas must remain accessible and open for use by the customers, 
business invitees, licensees or other persons transacting business on the Property. Township shall remove 
excess "spoil" materials and the like from the Benefited Property and shall maintain the Benefited Property 
in a clean and orderly fashion. Any areas on the Benefited Property or Property affected by any such 
construction activities shall be restored to as close to the condition as such area existed immediately prior 
to the commencement of such construction activity as is reasonably possible. AH construction shall be 
planned and carried out so as to minimize interference with ongoing business at the Property, including, 
without limitation, by erecting attractive construction barricades or implementing other reasonable 
measures to restrict public access to the portions of the Benefited Property involved in the construction 
work. During the course of all construction, Township shall submit to Developer from time to time upon 
request, reports in reasonable detail regarding the progress of such construction. Township agrees to consult 
with Developer from time to time during the course of any construction work to minimize interference with 
ongoing business at the Property. 

k. Insurance and lndeinnin,. 

(i) To the extent permitted by law, Township agrees to defend, indemnify and hold 
harmless Developer and its designees and their respective officers, directors, partners, affiliates, attorneys 
and agents (collectively, the "Indemnified Parties"), from and against any and all claims and demands 
(except such claims and demands that result from the negligence of Developer, or their respective agents 

Page 3 of16 



or other representatives, contractors, servants or employees) for, or in connection with, any accident, injury 
or damage whatsoever caused to any person or property arising out of the business conducted in or the use 
and/or occupancy of the Benefited Property or occurring in, on or about the Benefited Property or any part 
thereof, or arising from any act or omission of Township or the occupant or any of their respective tenants, 
licensees, servants, agents or other representatives, employees or contractors, and from and against any and 
all costs, expenses and liabilities incurred in connection with any such claims and/or proceedings brought 
thereon. 

(ii) To the extent permitted by law, Developer agrees to defend, indemnify and hold 
harmless Township and its designees and their respective officers, directors, partners, affiliates, attorneys 
and agents (collectively, the 'Indemnified Parties"), from and against any and all claims and demands 
(except such claims and demands that result from the negligence of Township, or their respective agents or 
other representatives, contractors, servants or employees) for, or in connection with, any accident, injury or 
damage whatsoever caused to any person or property arising out of the business conducted in or the use 
and/or occupancy of the Property or occurring in, on or about the Property or any part thereof or arising 
from any act or omission of Developer or the occupant or any of their respective tenants, licensees, servants, 
agents or other representatives, employees or contractors, and from and against any and all costs, expenses 
and liabilities incurred in connection with any such claims and/or proceedings brought thereon. 

(iii) Township will maintain (A) commercial general liability insurance, including 
contractual liability coverage per ISO form CG 00 01 04 13 or equivalent (which includes coverage for the 
contractual indemnity obligations of Township in this Agreement) with an insurer authorized to do business 
in the State in which the Benefited Property is located, in an amount not less than $1,000,000, such coverage 
to include without limitation all construction work performed pursuant to the rights granted under this 
Agreement, (B) builder's risk coverage with an insurer authorized to do business in the State in which the 
Benefited Property is located, in an amount reasonably acceptable to Developer, and (C) excess/umbrella 
coverage excess of (A) and (B), in an amount of at least $2,000,000. 

(iv) Developer shall maintain such similar commercial general liability insurance. 

Each of the Indemnified Parties as their interests may appear shall be identified as an additional 
insured on all such policies. All of said insurance shall be written by insurance companies licensed in the 
State in which the Property and Benefited Property are located and having a Best rating of at least A-VIII. 
All such insurance may not be cancelled or amended so as to reduce coverage amounts with respect to the 
Insured Parties except upon the insurer endeavoring to give ten (10) days' prior written notice pursuant to 
the notice requirements of Section 10. Upon request, each party shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to 
the other party either a duplicate original or certificate of insurance policy together with reasonable evidence 
of the payment of the premiums therefor. 

I. Impact Fees. Township shall pay all construction, zoning, and related permit fees for use on or 
of the Benefited Property. 

m. Liens. Township shall not create or permit to be created or permit to remain any lien, 
encumbrance or charge which might be or become a lien, encumbrance or charge upon the Property, or 
upon any improvements thereon, or upon any income therefrom. If any lien, arising out of any work 
performed, material furnished, or obligation incurred by Township, shall at any time be filed against the 
Property, or any improvements thereon, Township, within ten (10) days after the filing thereof, shall cause 
such lien to be discharged of record by payment, deposit, bond, order of a court of competent jurisdiction, 
or otherwise. If Township shall fail to cause any lien to be discharged as aforesaid, then in addition to any 
other right or remedy it may have, Developer may. but shall not be obligated to, discharge it either by 
paying the amount claimed to be due or by procuring the discharge of such lien by deposit, bond, or other 

Page 4 of 16 



proceedings, and in any such event, Developer shall be entitled if Developer so elects, but shall not be 
obligated, to compel the prosecution of any action for the foreclosure of such lien by the lienor and to pay 
the amount of the judgment in favor of the lienor with interest, costs and allowances. Any amount so paid 
by Developer and all costs and expenses incurred by Developer in connection therewith, together with 
interest thereon, from the respective dates of Developer's making of the payments and incurring of the costs 
and expense, shall be paid by Township to Developer within fifteen (15) days of Township receiving an 
mvo1ce. 

Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed or construed in any way as constituting the consent or 
request of Developer, express or implied by inference or otherwise, to any contractor, subcontractor, laborer 
or materialman for the performance of any labor or the furnishing of any materials for any specific 
construction on the Benefited Property that would give rise to the filing of any lien against the estate or 
interest of Developer in and to the Property, nor as giving Township any right, power or authority to contract 
for or permit any rendering of any services or the furnishing of any materials that would give rise to the 
filing of any lien against the estate or interest of Developer in and to the Property. Notice is hereby given 
that Developer shall not be liable for any labor, services or materials furnished or to be furnished to 
Township, or to anyone holding the Benefited Property through or under Township, upon credit and that 
no lien for any such labor, services or materials shall attach to or affect the estate or interest of Developer 
in and to the Property. 

n. Encroachments. If any building, structure or other improvement to the Benefited Property 
constructed thereon shall encroach upon the Property, or any part(s) thereof, or shall hinder, obstruct, or 
impair the rights of others under any such easement or right-of-way, then, in the case of any encroachment, 
promptly after written request from any person affected by such encroachment or Developer, Township 
shall either (i) obtain valid and effective waivers or settlements of all claims, liabilities and damages 
resulting from each such encroachment, violation, hindrance, obstruction or impairment, whether the same 
shall affect Developer, Township or both, or (ii) make such changes in the improvements on the Benefited 
Property and take such other action as shall be necessary to remove such encroachments, hindrances or 
obstructions and to end such violations or impairments. 

2. Easements. 

a. Access Easement. Developer hereby grants and conveys for the use and benefit of the 
Benefited Parcel, and appurtenant to and running with the title to the Benefited Parcel and the Property, a 
non-exclusive, perpetual easement for vehicular and pedestrian access, ingress, and egress to and from 
Central Park Drive, over and across the paved perimeter drives and the entrance drives of the Property 
adjoining the Benefited Property as shown on the Site Plan (as the same may exist from time to time). 

b. Parking. Developer hereby grants and conveys for the use and benefit of the Benefited 
Parcel, and appurtenant to and running with the title to the Benefited Parcel and the Property, a non­
exclusive, perpetual easement for vehicular parking over, across, and upon the paved parking areas located 
on the Property, as the same may exist from time to time, except that Developer shall work in good faith 
with the Township to maintain a minimum of 200 parking spots on the Property in the size required by 
applicable ordinance. 

3. Maintenance. All exterior and outside areas of the Benefited Property shall be maintained 
by Township in good, clean, sanitary condition and in an appearance and in a state ofrepair consistent with 
that kept at the Property. Township shall maintain storm drains and other utility facilities located on the 
Benefited Property in good condition. Township shall prevent soil, silt and other materials from eroding 
from the Benefited Property onto contiguous properties, drives and rights-of-way and shall promptly clean­
up all such soil, silt and other materials which leave the Benefited Property and shall provide adequate 

Page 5 of 16 



irrigation for the maintenance of all landscaped areas. Any existing grass and landscaping on the Benefited 
Property shall be properly cut and maintained by Township. Landscaping shall not, because of initial size 
or untrimmed growth, be allowed to obstruct the visibility of improvements and signs on any adjacent 
property. 

Developer shall maintain the drives and parking areas on the Property at all times to allow 
reasonable access to the Benefited Property. 

4. intended Use. Township shall use the Benefited Property only for the operation of a farmers' 
market; pavilion, including restrooms; children's playground area; picnic area; plaza area; farmers' market 
office; small performance stage; community events/ice skating; and, a park development (the "Int nded 
Use"). 

5. INTENTIONALLY OMITTED. 

6. INTENTIONALLY OMITTED. 

7. INTENTIONALLY OMITTED. 

8. Ge11eral Requireme11ts. 

a. During construction work, access to or parking for the Property shall not be blocked and all 
damage to property adjacent to the Benefited Property caused by activities related to such work shall be 
repaired to a condition as good as existing prior to such activities. Township is responsible, at its sole cost 
and expense, for obtaining, or causing to be obtained, any and all required governmental approvals of the 
plans and specifications, including, but not limited to all building permit fees and all other fees, taxes, costs 
and expenses attributable to any work on the Benefited Property. 

b. If any improvements located on the Benefited Property are damaged or destroyed by casualty, 
Township shall either restore same or raze all damaged improvements and replace the same with grass or 
other landscaping, as the Township may determine but all such work must be consistent with this 
Agreement. 

c. No overnight parking of vehicles, including, without limitation, automobiles, tractor trailers, 
recreational vehicles, trailers and mobile homes, shall be permitted on the Benefited Property without prior 
approval of Developer; provided, however, that temporary construction trailers may be permitted during 
periods of construction, reconstruction, or remodeling, so long as they are (i) not used for overnight lodging 
or other purposes deemed objectionable by Developer and (ii) approved in writing by Developer. 

9. Easement:i·. Township hereby grants to Developer perpetual, non-exclusive easements and 
rights over, under, across and through the Benefited Property for the benefit of the Property, for the location, 
maintenance, repair and replacement of utilities, utility lines or utility facilities (including, without 
limitation, gas, sewer, electric, telephone, water, cable, internet, etc.) and drainage systems and facilities 
(collectively, "Uti lities"), if any, serving any part of the Property, or any other improvements not the 
property of the Township or any occupant as of the Effective Date, located in, on, or under the Benefited 
Property, if any. Excluding emergencies, Developer will provide the Township with advanced written 
notice of its plans prior to entering the Benefited Property for the maintenance, repair and replacement of 
any such Utilities or any such other improvements. In the event that the Benefited Property are damaged as 
a result of the Developer's construction activities, including, but not limited to, the installation and/or 
removal of utility lines or related facilities contemplated by this paragraph, Developer shall promptly repair 

Page 6 of 16 



such damage and restore the affected parking areas and outdoor common areas to as close to the condition 
as such area existed immediately prior to the commencement of such construction activity. 

I 0. Notices. Every notice, demand, consent, request, approval, report, offer, acceptance, 
certificate, or other communication which may be, or is required to be, given or delivered under or with 
respect to this Agreement or by law shall be in writing in the English language and sent postage prepaid 
by United States certified mail, return receipt requested, or by a nationally recognized express courier 
service ("courier service") and directed to the other party at its address set forth below, or at such other 
address within the continental United States as any party may hereafter designate by similar notice to the 
other: 

DEVELOPER: 

Meridian Mall Limited Partnership 
c/o CBL & Associates Management, Inc. 
CBL Center, Suite 500 
2030 Hamilton Place Boulevard 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 3 7 4 21-6000 
AttenLion: Chief Legal Officer 

TOWNSHIP: 

Charter Township of Meridian 
5151 Marsh Road 
Okemos, MI 48864 
Attention: Township Manager 

Notices shall be deemed to have been given upon deposit in the United States mail or with a courier service 
as aforesaid. Any party may give any other party written notice hereunder by any means other than by 
United States registered or certified mail or by courier service which is reasonably calculated to reach the 
other party, including but not limited to hand delivery or courier service, provided that any such notice 
shall be deemed to have been given and shall be effective only when actually received by the addressee, 
proof of which shall be furnished by the party sending such notice. 

11. INTENTIONALLY OMITTED. 

12. E11forceme11t. If Township or Developer, or their successors or assigns or any party or parties 
claiming under them, shall violate or attempt to violate any of the foregoing covenants, the non-breaching 
party may prosecute any proceedings at law or in equity to enjoin such violation and to recover damages 
for such violation, including reasonable attorney's fees. 

13. Billdi11g E ffect. The rights and duties contained herein shall be effective as of the Effective 
Date, shall run with the land burdened thereby, shall be binding upon all owners and occupant thereof, or 
any part thereof and improvements thereon, and their respective successors and assigns, shall constitute an 
encumbrance on the Benefited Property, and shall inure to the benefit of the parties, and their successors 
and assigns, and shall terminate and expire on a date which is 50 years from the Effective Date, except all 
easements granted herein shall be perpetual other than those easements that are abandoned, such abandoned 
easements shall be deemed terminated and of no further force and effect. 

14. Amendm ent. This Agreement may be amended by the written agreement of Developer, or its 
designee, and Township. A designee of Developer shall be designated by written instrument executed by 
Developer, which states that the designation is made pursuant to this Agreement. 

15. l11validitv. If any term, covenant or restriction herein shall be invalid or unenforceable, the 
remainder shall not be affected thereby, and each term, covenant and restriction shall be valid and 
enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

Page 7 of 16 



16. Exhibits. The Exhibits attached hereto are a part of this Agreement and are incorporated herein 
by reference. 

17. Force MaJeure. For the purposes of this Agreement, "Force Majeure" shall mean when 
Developer or Township is delayed or prevented from performing any of their obligations under this 
Agreement by reason of strike, lockouts, labor troubles, acts of God, enemy action, civil disturbance, fire, 
unavoidable causalities, or any cause whatsoever beyond either party's reasonable control, the period of 
such delay or such prevention shall be deemed added to the time herein provided for the performance of 
any such obligation by Developer or Township, except for the payment of any monetary obligations payable 
in accordance herein or the inability to obtain financing which may be necessary to carry out its obligations. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless the Party entitled to such extension shall give notice to the other 
Party to this Agreement of its claim to such extension within five (5) days after the Party entitled to such 
extension becomes aware of the occurrence of the event giving rise to such claim, there shall be excluded 
in computing the number of days by which the time for performance of the act in question shall be extended 
the number of days which shall have elapsed between the occurrence of such event and the actual giving of 
such notice. 

18. Est.Oppel Certificates. Either party, within thirty (30) days of the written request of the other, 
shall issue an estoppel certificate to the non-requesting party or its designee, stating whether to its actual 
knowledge it knows of any default under this Agreement and, if there are known defaults, specifying the 
nature thereof. 

19. lNTENTlONALLY OMITTED. 

20. Miscellaneous. 

a. One or more waivers of any term, covenant, or condition of this Agreement by any party should 
not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant, or condition; 
nor shall any delay or omission by any party in seeking a remedy for breach of this Agreement, or exercising 
any right accruing to such party or reason of any such breach, be deemed a waiver by such party of its rights 
or remedies with respect to such breach. 

b. Except as otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires, the defined 
terms of this Agreement shall include the plural as well as the singular, and the use of any gender herein 
shall be deemed to include any other gender. 

c. The captions of the sections of this Agreement are for convenience only and shall be considered 
not referred to in resolving any questions of interpretation and construction of this Agreement. 

d. This Agreement is to be deemed to have been prepared jointly by the Parties, and any uncertainty 
or ambiguity existing herein, if any, shall not be interpreted against any Party but according to the 
application of the rules of interpretation of contracts. 

e. This Agreement may be executed in multiple originals or counterparts, each of which will be an 
original and, when all of the parties to this Agreement have signed at least one (1) copy, such copies together 
will constitute a fully-executed and binding agreement. 

Page 8 of 16 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS) 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Township has executed this Agreement as of the date first above 
written. 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

COUNTY OF INGHAM 

TOWNSHIP: 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, a 
Michigan municipal corporation 

Frank L. Walsh 
Title: Township Manager 

Date: ---'fll~.~~r-~CM~-2..-°1----,.--------A?_o~\C,-t-------
' 

§ 

§ 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the L'[~ day of M4~\1 , 20jj 
by Frank L. Walsh in his capacity as Township Manager of the Charter Township of Meridian, in the 
capacity therein stated on behalf of said Township. 

ADRIENNE MONAHAN 
NOTARY PUBLIC- STATE OF MIOflGAN 

COUNTY OF INGHAM 
MY COMMISSION EXPIRES W'.A.Y 26, 2023 

Acr1NG 1N THE couNTY oF , n~ha., 

Page 9 of 16 

~------
Notary Public, State of Michigan 

Commission Expires: ma~Zlt , 2Ql.3 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Developer has executed this Agreement as of the date first above 
written. 

ST ATE OF TENNESSEE 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON 

Page 10 of 16 

DEVELOPER: 

MERIDIAN MALL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, a 
Michigan limited partnership 

By: Multi-GP Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company, its sole general partner 

By: CBL & Associates Limited Partnership, its sole 
member and chief manager 

By: CBL Holdings I, Inc., its sole general partner 

Date: 3· 28 · 2.0(G\ 

§ 

§ 



EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

PARCEl.. I: (Meridian fee Tract) 
Thot port of the Southwe.t 1/4 of the Notthwut 1/4 of Section 22 ond the South.alt 1/4 of the Norlheo.-t 1/4 
of SeetJon 21, Town 4 North, Rong• 1 Wnt. Meridian Town,hip, ~h<lm Coun~, Mk:hlgon, b.glMlng at the Northw-.t 
comer of .aid Southwest 1/4 of the NonhHll 1/4 of Section 22. eaid point being South 00 det,I,.... 30 mlnutff 
21 aecond• Wnt 1320.45 feet from the Northwat comer of So<:tJon 22; thenc. nmnlng 0'°"9 the North line of 
sold Southwest 1/4 of the Hof'thweet 1/4, South 89 deg,.... 22 mlnutN 45 ■-cond• Eost 124.00 feet; thence 
Southea■terty 188.59 feet along the arc of o 131 .00 foot rodl.,. curw to the left whoN d,o,d NOl"9 Sooth 36 
de(jlreoe 20 minute. 16 HC:Qnd• East 157.19 feet; thence Southeoaterty 242.80 feet 0lo119 the arc of a iM.00 foot 
radlul curve t.o thct right whoN chord beora South 48 degreee 53 minute■ 03 NCOnd• Eott 235.52 feet; tMnce 
South 24 deg,_ 28 minute1 42 NCOndt E:a.t 100.52 feet; thence North 65 degl"NI JI mlnuta 18 aec:ondt Eo.t 
363.33 feet; thenOI South 24 deg,... 28 mlnutN 42 MCOnd• Ea■t 127.91 f..t.; th~ North 65 degreea 31 
mlnutot 18 NeOnda £ost 40.00 fNt: thence North 24 degrNe 28 mlnuta 42 M00ndt Weat 141.50 feet,~ 
South 89 degl"OOI 28 minute. 42 MC:Onda Ea■t 65.00 fMt: the~ North 20 ~,..,. 31 minute. 115 NCOndt East 
221.40 feet to Mid Norih llne of the Southw..t 1/4 of the Northwm 1/4: thence olonQ ■aid North fine South 89 
degn,ea 22 minuta 45 NCOnd9 Eo.t 338.56 feet to the Wmerly an. o( Uor1h Rood, being 60 feet WeatMty of and 
porollel with the cent«ll'M thereof; thence along eald W..tar1y liM the following three courN■• South 27 degl"MI 43 
mlnut.. 58 NCOndt W• 74.20 feet; Utenee Southwuterty 324.73 feet olon9 the arc of a i82.30 foot rodli.i• cww 
to the right whoN chonf bNra South ~ ~ 12 minute■ 12 Ncondl Welt 323.26 feet; thence South 46 
degrees 40 mlnuta 2e MCOnd■ WNI: 175 . .30 f..t; thence Nofth 24 cSegrMe 28 mlnutee 42 aeconda Weat 102.96 
fNt; thence South 85 decJ,.... 31 mlnutea 18 ~ Wnt 40.00 f.t; tMnce South 24 dagrwu 28 minute. 42 
NC011d1 Eo.t I I 6.62 feet to eald Westerly UM ot Marth Rood: thtnOe aloclCjl aald W..t.fty line South 46 ~40 
mlnuta 28 eeconda Weet 292.01 fNt lo the Northerly llne of Grand RMr Avenue, cao known oa Mlchlgan hWQY 
M-43; thence ~ IClld Nofth«1y llne the followlng ttne tot.nes So4lth 78 deg,.... 20 minut.e 34 eecond• 
145.46 fNI. tttenc:. Nofth 69 ct.g,.... 28 ~ 42 MCOnda WNt 317.14 ffft; thence Nofthw.t«ty 348.35 feat 
o&ong tM an: of a 5789.58 foot f'Cldiua curve to the left whoN d,o,d ~ North 71 degr'Me 12 minut.a 01 
MCOnda Wat 348.30 feet; thence North 00 deg,... 30 minute. 21 NCOndll £.a■t 490.89 fNt; then0e North 99 
degrMe 04 minut. 24 NCOnd■ £.a■t 91..32 fNt to the Point of beQlnnlno; EXCEPT (Bonk Tract) Commencing at 1N 
Nortnwe■t corner of s.ction 22. Town 4 Norih, ROOQe 1 W..t, Meridian Townehlp, Ingham County, MlcnlQ<ln: ttMnoe 
South 00 CMQrNe JO mlnulN 21 NOOndt W.. 1511.11 fMt a4ong the Weal Section line :th.nct South 8Q ~ 
29 minlllN 39 MOOnda East 50 feet to the point of ~ 1hlnce Horth 48 ~ 00 rninutM 58 NOOnde 
e:o.t 111.ea feet; thence ~ 86.20 fNl G&ong ore of a 175.00 foot rodiua curw to the left whoee 
c:hont beQrw Soutt1 59 _.... 10 mbMe 41 eeoond■ Eoet 85.J3 feet thence Southeoawty t~.N fMt a1ont the 
ore of o 241.00 foot nldiul cunie to the right whoN chocd been South 545 ..,._ 53 mkNtN 15 NOOnc» tc.t 
138.11 feet; thenoa Southtr..t.rty 1.78 f..t Oloftg the ore of o <CO foot rodiu■ cww to the right whoN dwwd 
~ South OJ ~ 4e m1nutN 04 NCOnde Weal M.eJ fNt; UMl'IC■ South 48 degrM■ 01 ~ 18 NOOnda 
Weet~~~~n~~~~MCOnda~~~~HorthOO~~ 
mlnutae 21 NCOnd■ East 280.00 fMt lo the point of beginning. 

PARCEL I: (MulNlmon-Buxton F" Tract) 
That part of the SouthwNt 1/4 of SecUon 15 and the Notthwat 1/4 of Section 22. Towl' 4 Horth, Ronge 1 WNt. 
Meridian Townahlp, Ingham County, ~ ~ at UM Southwest comer of s.ction 15; tMnct running oloc'!I 
1N Section line Nof1h 00 degfMI 34 rnlnutet 19 NCOndt Eoat 281 .34 fNt; thence South 34 deg,_. 04 mlnutAle 
46 NCOnd• Eott 107.75 feat thence NottheottMty 179.29 feet o1onQ the ore of a 225.00 foot rodiu■ CUMI to the 
riQht whOM chord beGt'I Notth 86 degrNe 42 mlnutw 16 eecond9 East 174.58 feet; tnenc. North 89 degrM9 31 
mlnut.e 57 NC011CM £.oat 178.87 f..t: thence Nonh 00 cteg,... 28 mlnuta 03 aeconda WNt 149..57 feet ~ 
North 20 c1e9..,... 31 mlnutN 18 NCOfldt £.oat 203.85 f..,f; thence ~ 280.34 fNl along the an: of a 
JM.22 foot rodiUI CUMS to the right wflOM chonf beont North 87 ~ 28 minutee J5 NCQnda Eol't 273.54 
feet; thanc:e South e9 de,gtMa 28 mlnutN 42 NCOndB East 185.00 feet; thence North 20 de9,.... 31 mlnut.e9 18 
MCOnda Eoat 182.43 feet; thence South 70 deg'"9 35 mlnut. Ji MCOnd• [oat 368.18 feet~ the South line 
of c.ntra, Pen Drive whk::h la 60 feet Southe,ty of end parallel with the ~ Uweof; thence South 00 
de9'"8 23 minute■ 49 NCOnd■ W..t 292..43 feel alonQ the Eolt line of tM South....t 1/4 of the SouthwNt 1/4 
of Section 15: thence South 89 c1eg,.... 24 mlnut. J8 NCOndl Eat 110.00 feet; thenc■ South 00 degrea 2J 
minut. 49 NCOnd.1 WNt 298.29 feet; thence So4.ilh 69 cie9,.... 28 mlnut.. 42 NCOnda £oat 465.65 feet lo the 
W..te,1y line of Marlh Rood. being ea f..t ~ of ond parali.t with the ~ thereof; thence alonQ IOld 
Westerly line South 27 ct.g,.... 43 rinut. 58 NOOnCla Wut 1308.18 feet; tfMlnO■ olooo the South line of the 
Northwo■t 1/4 of the Northwett 1/4 of Section 22: North 89 degrees 22 minutiN 45 NCOnd■_~•- ~-~-feet; 

Page 11 ofl6 



thence North 20 do<Jreoe J1 minute■ 18 Meonda East 181.92 fNt theoce North 69 d~re•• 28 minuta 42 
eeconda W..t 230.00 feet; thence South 20 dec;irNII J1 minute. 18 aoconda Wect 65.00 feet; thenct North 69 
degroet 28 minutes 42 second• Wnt 15.13 feet: thence North 20 degl'Ntl 31 minut.M 18 aeeond11 Eoat 79.60 feet; 
thence North 69 d09rees 28 mlnutfl 42 NCOnd• Wnt 15.37 feet: thence North 20 deg,..... 3 t minute■ 18 Meood1 
Eo8l 390.00 fHt; ttMnee Nonh 89 dogrN■ 28 minutes 42 HCOndl W..t 400.00 t .. t; ttMnce South 20 degrMe 31 
mlnut.. 18 NW\da West 384.80 fNt; theoct North 69 deQfll08 28 mlnutn -42 H(;Ondt Wost 145.00 fNtj thence 
South 20 de9reee 31 mlnutee 18 NCOnd1 W..t 344.23 feet thence South 00 dog,._ 30 minutn 21 aeconda ~ 
121 .4-4 feet thence Southweet«ty 0.1 l fNt along th■ G4'C of a 131.00 foot radius OOl"Ye to the left whoM chord 
t>.arw Sooth 00 deg,_. 28 mlnutoa J3 HCOnde W..t 0.13 f..t; ~ along ■aid South lino of the Northw..t 1/4 
of the Northwest 1/4, North 89 degl'N8 22 minute. 45 HConda Weet 124.00 fNt to the West fine of s.ction ~ 
thence North 00 ~ 30 minute. 21 NConda Eo8t 1320.45 feet to the point of beoinnlng. 

PARCEL Ill: (Theater Tl'Gct) 
That part of the SauthwHt 1/4 of Section 15, Town 4 North, Ronge 1 W•t. w.ridlon Township, Ingham County, 
Michigan, beginnino on th• WNt line of s.ctlon 1!5 at a point North 00 degnN1 l4 mfnutn U~ 'NCC>fN1- Eo.t 
261.34 feet from the SOuthwat com• of sold Section; thence continuing along l(lld s.etJon line North 00 degr.a 
34 minute. 19 NCOndl East 38.21 fMl to the Southerly Right-of-Woy line of c«,trol Pe1r1( Oriw, being 60 fNt, 
meallnd perpffldlcularty, from the cent.rine of 9Gkt DrM; thence atong ■aid R'ight-of-Woy line the followlno wo 
OOUl"M■, NortMolt.erfy 205.70 f..t along th■ ore ol a 460.00 foot radius curw to the Ifft whoN chord !More ~ 
36 degreu 01 rnlrMM 27 MOOnda £.oat ~-99 f..t ; tMnce NortMaetMty 0.87 , .. t along thl ore of o 545.0ft 
foot radlu. cuw to the right whoN c:hord bean North 23 ~ 15 mlnutN 32 NCOnde East 0.87 , .. t: tMn:,e 
North 89 degt9M 31 minute■ 57 NCOnd8 £a■t 276.87 f..t; thence South 00 degl'MI 28 minutes 03 NCOnda [oat 
225.00 f-■t tlMlnoe South 89 cl...■ 31 mlnvtN 57 IMOOnd■ W-■t 178.67 f..t; thence Southw■-t.r1y 179.29 fMt 
along the arc of a 225.00 foot ~ c:ww to 1h9 left whON chord bean ~ tse CMQ,... 42 mlnuta 16 
N00flCN West 174.58 feet; thence North 34 ~ 04 mlnutee 46 second■ W-■t 107.75 fNt to the Point of 
Beginning. 

PMCEL fl/: (Plaza Troc:t) 
Thal pa,t of tfM Nor1hwNt 1/4 of 5ec:Uon 22. TOWf1 ' North, Ranoe t W..t. ~Ion Townahlo, lnQhom County, 
~ commendng at the North...t oomer of s.ctJon 22. ~ South M ct.,veea 24 mfnutei 38 NCOnda 
Eat 80.00 fMl; thence South 00 _.. 30 ~ 21 NCOndtl w..t 816.63 feet: thence South 6SI del7Me 21 
rinut.a 42 ■eoond■ E'Aet 317.23 f..t to the Point of~ tMnce North 20 degl'N■ 31 mlnuteti 1! NCOnCIII 
Ealll 384.80 feet; thence South ~ degree■ 28 ~ 42 NCOnd■ £oat 400.00 , .. t. ~ South 20 degt'NI 31 
m1nutM 18 NOOnda W..t 300.00 f..t; thence South 89 ~ 28 rwnut. 42 ■econda Ea.t 15.37 fMt. tttenOe 
South 20 ~ 31 m1nuta 18 NOOndt W..t 79.!IO feet; thence North 6il d■gl'MI 28 ITlfflUlN 4-2 NCOnda W..t 
415.37 feet; thence Nor1tl 20 deg,-■ 31 minutes 18 NCOnd■ £oat 85.00 feet to thl Point of S■gir-~. 

PARCEL. V: (No Namtl Trlon9u6or Pot0lt) 
1hat pan of the South-■t 1/4 ol S■ction 1 e, Town 4 tbth, 1 w.t. 11enc11an ToWMhlp, lnghClm ~ 
Mict\lgon. deecf1bed aa ;:J;::: at a point on Ille £A■t SectlOn line North 00 degrMe J4 ~ 19 ~ 
198..03 feet from the comer of SedJon 16: thence North 34 CMQ,... 04 minuta 4e N00flde W..t 8000 
f..t to the Southef1y Ri9ht-of-Way h of Centnal Parle Drfw, being IQ f-■t ~ ~ from the 
o■IUl1IM of told DrfH; tMnOe along Mid fflghl-<lf-Wqy liM ~ 57.S7 fNl alon9 the ore ol a 4«>.00 
foot rodlua curve to the Wt whoee chord bean Horth 52 ~ 28 mfnut.e 18 N00ftde Eo■t 57..83 f..t to u. 
Ea■t Jin• of s.ctJori 16; thence South 00 degr1I-■ J4 mlnulN 19 NOOnda WNt 101.52 feet to the Point of 
a.alnnlno-

PARCEL WI: (Patkwoy Troct) 
That port of ScMhw..t 1/4 of Seetion 15, and the Norihwat 1/4 of Section 22. Town 4 North, Rongfl 1 Wat. 
Meridlon Townahlp, lnghom County, Michigan, becainnlnv on the Section llne oomrnon ta S■ctlon■ 15 ond 22 at o 
point South 88 deg,.... 24 mlnutel 38 .x,ndt Eaet t 440.86 f.ot from the Southwat comer of Section 15 
(Norttlw..t comer of Section 22); thence running North 69 degreet 2ll mlnutta 42 NCOndt West S.01 feet thence 
North00~23~~~~~~~~~~k~~~~ 
90.00 feel; I.hence North 00 deg,.._ 23 mlnutae 49 NCOnds East 150.00 feet; thence North 88 ~ 24 
minutes 38 aoconda Wert 200.00 feet; theric. North 00 dforNt 23 mlnutM 4g NCOndt Ea.It 142.4.'.5 f..t to a 
point Otl the Southerty RiQht-of-Way line of Centn:11 Parit Drive. aold flOlnt being &o feet mtoaur■d pe,peodiculor lo 
the centerline of aaid Drive; thence along the Right-of-Way South 70 deg,_ 35 mlnulN 39 NCOnd■ East 839.17 
feet to a point on the Westerly Rloht-o(-Way of Mcnh Rood, thenc. ab'9 the Right-of-Woy South 27 degrtt1 ~ 
minute. 58 MCOndt Wtet 637.75 (eet; thence North 6; dtgreet 28 mlnutel 42 NConda West ~.&4 fMt to the 
Point of Beglnnln9. 

Page 12 of 16 











Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

10.B

To: Board Members 

From: Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP, Director of Community Planning and Development 

Date: July 31, 2025 

Re: Eyde Central Park Property – REFERRAL TO PLANNING COMMISISON 

Over the past 30+ years, the Township and the Eyde Company have entered into a series of 
settlement agreements and stipulations with the court regarding nearly 200 acres of land on the 
east side of Central Park Drive. Under this legal umbrella is the Walmart property, Central Park 
Estates, Central Park Apartments, the vacant land along Central Park Drive to the west of Central 
Park Estates, and some other smaller parcels in the area.  

Over the years, the two parties have agreed to change the zoning for the vacant land in front of 
Central Park Estates at least twice, most recently in 2004 where the Township agreed to change the 
area directly adjacent to Central Park Estates from PO, Professional and Office, to RD, Multiple 
Family Residential. The land along Central Park Drive has been zoned CS, Community Service, for a 
longer period of time. The CS zoning district has been repealed from the Zoning Ordinance, but still 
applies to this area, pursuant to one of the lawsuit stipulations.  

Continental Properties presented a conceptual development plan to the Board at their July 22nd 
meeting and the general consensus of the Board was to treat this application similarly to how we 
treated the 2004 request to change the zoning. To start, that would include referring the matter to 
the Planning Commission for a recommendation and potential public hearing. Additionally, the 
applicant is working to schedule a meeting with the neighborhood to present the concept in a Town 
Hall style format to get initial feedback.  

At this time, we do not have a formal submittal. The applicant is working on refining the plans based 
on the wetland delineation that was completed this week and the Township  Board’s feedback from 
the last meeting.  As soon as a formal submittal is made to Staff, we will bring the matter in front of 
the Planning Commission, should the Board approve this referral under the following motion.  

Motion to approve the attached resolution referring the proposal for the Eyde Central Park 
property to the Planning Commission for its recommendation as to whether or not the court 
orders governing the zoning, permitted uses, and development of parcels 22-202-001, 15-
400-031, and 22-203-001 should be amended to replace the current zoning with a new
classification.



RESOLUTION TO APPROVE                       Eyde Central Park Property 
Amendment to Settlement Agreement – Refer to PC 

 
RESOLUTION 

 
At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 

County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 7th day of 
August, 2025, at 6:00 p.m., Local Time. 
 
PRESENT:    ________ ________________________________________________________________ 
 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ABSENT:             
  

 
 The following resolution was offered by ____________________ and supported by 
_________________________. 
 

WHEREAS, the vacant approximately 30 acres of land on the east side of Central Park Drive, 
to the north and south of Columbus and Belvedere Avenues, is currently zoned CS, Community 
Service, and RD, Multiple Family Residential, subject to orders entered by the Ingham County 
Circuit Court on January 10, 1992, February 7, 1996, November 15, 2001, March 6, 2002, and 
October 25, 2004; and,  

 
WHEREAS, said orders assign both a CS, Community Service and RD, Multiple Family 

Residential zoning district classification to the parcels; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the orders of the Ingham County Circuit Court govern the zoning, permitted use, 

and development of the parcels addressed in them and the Court has retained jurisdiction in all 
matters pertaining to its orders; and,  

  
WHEREAS, the Eyde Land Holdings, LLC company, along with their development partner 

Continental Properties, has presented a concept plan to the Township, requesting consideration of 
an amendment to the Court’s orders to the zoning on all the properties to be assigned RC, Multiple 
Family Residential, not to exceed fourteen dwelling units per acre; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the owner/developer of the property are seeking this zoning change to 

eliminate the commercial zoning along Central Park Drive and move development further away 
from Central Park Estates; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Township Board will consider whether the requested amendment of court 

orders would be in furtherance of the health, safety, and welfare of the citizenry of the Township 
and therefore a recommendation from the Township’s Planning Commission with respect to the 
zoning change is warranted and desired.  

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 

TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby refers the request to amend the court orders on the site to the 
Planning Commission for its recommendation as to whether those court orders governing the 
zoning, permitted uses, and development of the parcels that are subject to the resolutions should be 



Resolution to Refer to PC                    Eyde Central Park Property 
Page 2                               

amended to change the zoning designations to RC, Multiple Family Residential, not to exceed 
fourteen dwelling units per acre, 

 
 

ADOPTED: YEAS: __________________________________________________________________________________ 
     

NAYS:   __________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 

I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Chair of the Planning Commission of the 
Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is 
a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 
5th day of August, 2025.  
 
 

       _____________________________  
        Angela Demas 

       Township Clerk 



 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

11.A 

To:  Township Board Members 
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP 
  Director of Community Planning and Development 
 
Date:  July 30, 2025 
 
Re: Ordinance 2025-06 – Backyard Chicken Ordinance update – Roosters  
 
In the past five years, Staff has received occasional reports of roosters in residential districts. 
Typically the situation resolves itself, as the homeowner who has (often inadvertently) ended up 
with a rooster realizes that they don’t want them and we don’t hear about them again. In 2025, we 
have two persistent rooster issues that have caused us to take another look at our ordinances 
regarding backyard chickens.  
 
Currently, under the Township’s backyard chicken ordinance, roosters are generally prohibited, 
except on RR, Rural Residential zoned properties. In researching the issue, it has become apparent 
that there are several areas of the Township with RR zoned properties, within the Urban Service 
Boundary, and adjacent to higher density residential districts. This has naturally caused issues with 
residential property owners who did intend to reside next to rural properties and the things that 
come with that.  
 
After reviewing the matter with the Township Attorney’s office, given the potential Right-To-Farm 
implications under Michigan law, the attached language would close the ‘loophole’ and allow for 
enforcement of the rooster prohibition in the areas of the Township inside of the Urban Service 
Boundary and under five acres in size. This gives Staff clear direction in enforcement issues on a go 
forward basis.  
 
Staff looks forward to discussing this with the Township Board. 
 
Attachments 
1. Ordinance 2025-06 – Clean version 
2. Ordinance 2025-06 – Redlined version 
3. Planning Commission packet information from June 9th, June 23rd, July 14th, and July 28th  
4. Planning Commission minutes from June 9th, June 23rd, and July 14th  
 



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-06 1 
 2 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF 3 
MERIDIAN AT ARTICLE IV, DISTRICT REGULATIONS, TO UPDATE THE STANDARDS THEREIN 4 

 5 
THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN ORDAINS: 6 
  7 
 8 
Section 1. Section 86-368(b)(8), RR District: One-Family Rural Residential District, is hereby 9 
amended to read as follows: 10 
 11 
Raising and keeping of chickens and rabbits as nonagricultural use. Male chickens, also known as 12 
roosters, are permitted by right only on parcels exceeding five (5) total acres. Roosters are not 13 
permitted on parcels within the Urban Services Boundary. 14 
 15 
The raising and keeping of chickens and rabbits accessory only to one-family dwellings in the RAAA, 16 
RAA, and RA zoning districts is subject to the following requirements: 17 
 18 

a. Registration. 19 
 20 
1. Prior to the raising and keeping of chickens and rabbits on any property under this 21 

section, the property shall be registered with the Department of Community Planning and 22 
Development. 23 

2. Only an individual living in a dwelling on the property shall raise or keep chickens and 24 
rabbits on the property. A registration may not be transferred. 25 

3. Notwithstanding registering with the Township, private restrictions on the use of 26 
property shall remain enforceable and take precedence over the registration. Private 27 
restrictions include, but are not limited to, deed restrictions, condominium master deed 28 
restrictions, neighborhood association bylaws, and covenant deeds. The interpretation 29 
and enforcement of the private restriction is the sole responsibility of the private parties 30 
involved. 31 
 32 

b. Standards. In addition to registering with the Township, the raising and keeping of chickens 33 
and rabbits accessory only to one-family dwellings in the RAAA, RAA, and RA zoning districts 34 
shall comply with the following standards: 35 

 36 
1. In no case shall the maximum number of chickens and rabbits in any combination exceed 37 

four. 38 
2. Roosters shall not be allowed. 39 
3. The sale of chickens, rabbits and eggs on the property is prohibited. 40 
4. Chickens and rabbits shall not be kept in any location on the property other than in the 41 

rear yard as defined by the zoning ordinance. 42 
5. Chickens and rabbits shall be provided with a covered structure and must be kept in the 43 

covered structure or an adjoining fenced area at all times. Covered structures and fenced 44 
areas used for the raising and keeping of chickens and rabbits are subject to all provisions 45 
of Chapter 86 (zoning), except the covered structure and fenced area shall be set back a 46 
minimum of 10 feet from a side or rear lot line and structures propose for reverse 47 
frontage lots shall be located no closer than 30 feet to the right-of-way of the designated 48 
rear yard. 49 



2 
 

6. All structures for the raising and keeping of chickens and rabbits shall be constructed so 1 
as to prevent rodents or other animals from being harbored underneath, within, or within 2 
the walls of the structure. 3 

7. All feed and other items associated with the raising and keeping of chickens and rabbits 4 
shall be kept in containers or otherwise protected so as to prevent access to or contact 5 
with rodents or other animals. 6 

8. The covered structure used to house the chickens and rabbits and any fenced area shall 7 
be kept in a sanitary condition. 8 

9. This section shall not regulate the keeping of chickens in those areas zoned RR (Rural 9 
Residential) or AG (Agricultural) where the raising of chickens is a permitted use when 10 
conducted in compliance with the Michigan Right to Farm Act and the generally accepted 11 
agricultural and management practices promulgated therein. 12 

 13 
Section X. Validity and Severability.  The provisions of this Ordinance are severable and the 14 
invalidity of any phrase, clause or part of this Ordinance shall not affect the validity or effectiveness 15 
of the remainder of the Ordinance. 16 
 17 
Section X. Repealer Clause.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict therewith are 18 
hereby repealed only to the extent necessary to give this Ordinance full force and effect. 19 
 20 
Section X.  Savings Clause.  This Ordinance does not affect rights and duties matured, penalties 21 
that were incurred, and proceedings that were begun, before its effective date. 22 
 23 
Section X.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be effective seven (7) days after its publication 24 
or upon such later date as may be required under Section 402 of the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act 25 
(MCL 125.3402) after filing of a notice of intent to file a petition for a referendum. 26 
 27 
ADOPTED by the Charter Township of Meridian Board at its regular meeting this XXth day of 28 
XXXXXXX, 2025.  29 
 30 
 31 

______________________________ 32 
Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 33 

 34 
 35 

______________________________ 36 
Angela Demas, Township Clerk 37 



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-06 1 
 2 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF 3 
MERIDIAN AT ARTICLE IV, DISTRICT REGULATIONS, TO UPDATE THE STANDARDS THEREIN 4 

 5 
THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN ORDAINS: 6 
  7 
 8 
Section 1. Section 86-368(b)(8), RR District: One-Family Rural Residential District, is hereby 9 
amended to read as follows: 10 
 11 
Raising and keeping of chickens and rabbits as nonagricultural use. Male chickens, also known as 12 
roosters, are permitted by right only on parcels exceeding five (5) total acres. Roosters are not 13 
permitted on parcels within the Urban Services Boundary. 14 
 15 
The raising and keeping of chickens and rabbits accessory only to one-family dwellings in the RAAA, 16 
RAA, and RA zoning districts is subject to the following requirements: 17 
 18 

a. Registration. 19 
 20 
1. Prior to the raising and keeping of chickens and rabbits on any property under this 21 

section, the property shall be registered with the Department of Community Planning and 22 
Development. 23 

2. Only an individual living in a dwelling on the property shall raise or keep chickens and 24 
rabbits on the property. A registration may not be transferred. 25 

3. Notwithstanding registering with the Township, private restrictions on the use of 26 
property shall remain enforceable and take precedence over the registration. Private 27 
restrictions include, but are not limited to, deed restrictions, condominium master deed 28 
restrictions, neighborhood association bylaws, and covenant deeds. The interpretation 29 
and enforcement of the private restriction is the sole responsibility of the private parties 30 
involved. 31 
 32 

b. Standards. In addition to registering with the Township, the raising and keeping of chickens 33 
and rabbits accessory only to one-family dwellings in the RAAA, RAA, and RA zoning districts 34 
shall comply with the following standards: 35 

 36 
1. In no case shall the maximum number of chickens and rabbits in any combination exceed 37 

four. 38 
2. Roosters shall not be allowed. 39 
3. The sale of chickens, rabbits and eggs on the property is prohibited. 40 
4. Chickens and rabbits shall not be kept in any location on the property other than in the 41 

rear yard as defined by the zoning ordinance. 42 
5. Chickens and rabbits shall be provided with a covered structure and must be kept in the 43 

covered structure or an adjoining fenced area at all times. Covered structures and fenced 44 
areas used for the raising and keeping of chickens and rabbits are subject to all provisions 45 
of Chapter 86 (zoning), except the covered structure and fenced area shall be set back a 46 
minimum of 10 feet from a side or rear lot line and structures propose for reverse 47 
frontage lots shall be located no closer than 30 feet to the right-of-way of the designated 48 
rear yard. 49 



2 
 

6. All structures for the raising and keeping of chickens and rabbits shall be constructed so 1 
as to prevent rodents or other animals from being harbored underneath, within, or within 2 
the walls of the structure. 3 

7. All feed and other items associated with the raising and keeping of chickens and rabbits 4 
shall be kept in containers or otherwise protected so as to prevent access to or contact 5 
with rodents or other animals. 6 

8. The covered structure used to house the chickens and rabbits and any fenced area shall 7 
be kept in a sanitary condition. 8 

9. This section shall not regulate the keeping of chickens in those areas zoned RR (Rural 9 
Residential) or AG (Agricultural) where the raising of chickens is a permitted use when 10 
conducted in compliance with the Michigan Right to Farm Act and the generally accepted 11 
agricultural and management practices promulgated therein. 12 

 13 
Section X. Validity and Severability.  The provisions of this Ordinance are severable and the 14 
invalidity of any phrase, clause or part of this Ordinance shall not affect the validity or effectiveness 15 
of the remainder of the Ordinance. 16 
 17 
Section X. Repealer Clause.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict therewith are 18 
hereby repealed only to the extent necessary to give this Ordinance full force and effect. 19 
 20 
Section X.  Savings Clause.  This Ordinance does not affect rights and duties matured, penalties 21 
that were incurred, and proceedings that were begun, before its effective date. 22 
 23 
Section X.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be effective seven (7) days after its publication 24 
or upon such later date as may be required under Section 402 of the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act 25 
(MCL 125.3402) after filing of a notice of intent to file a petition for a referendum. 26 
 27 
ADOPTED by the Charter Township of Meridian Board at its regular meeting this XXth day of 28 
XXXXXXX, 2025.  29 
 30 
 31 

______________________________ 32 
Scott Hendrickson, Township Supervisor 33 

 34 
 35 

______________________________ 36 
Angela Demas, Township Clerk 37 



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

To: Planning Commission 

From: Brian Shorkey, Principal Planner 

Date: June 9, 2025 

Re: Regulation of Roosters in the Township 

Staff previously informed the Planning Commission that Staff would be introducing language to 
further regulate roosters in the Rural Residential district. Currently, under the Township’s backyard 
chicken ordinance, roosters are generally prohibited, except on RR, Rural Residential zoned 
properties. Over the past several months, we have received a number of complaints of roosters on 
properties within the Urban Service Boundary, but still zoned RR. After discussions with the 
Township Attorney, Staff has received draft language which we are now bringing forward for 
discussion.  

Several parcels inside of the Urban Service Boundary (USB) are zoned Rural Residential (RR), which 
is the crux of the current problem. Because roosters are allowed by right in the RR district, and 
parcels inside the USB tend to be more dense than outside of the USB, Staff has received several 
noise complaints regarding roosters from neighbors. The proposed ordinance would tighten the 
regulations for where roosters are permitted in the Township, alleviating some of the concerns that 
have been raised this year by residents.  

We look forward to providing a draft ordinance to the Planning Commission in the future. 

Attachments: 
1. Rooster Zoning Ordinance Draft Amendment



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

To: Planning Commission 

From: Brian Shorkey, Principal Planner 

Date: June 23, 2025 

Re: TA #25014 – Sec. 86-368 – RR District – Regulation of Roosters 

Staff previously informed the Planning Commission that Staff would be introducing language to 
further regulate roosters in the Rural Residential district. Staff discussed proposed updated 
language to update Sec. 86-368 at the regular Planning Commission meeting on June 9, 2025 and 
has scheduled a public hearing for July 13, 2025. The specific updated language affects Part (8) 
under subsection (b), Uses permitted by right. 

Currently, under the Township’s backyard chicken ordinance, roosters are generally prohibited, 
except on RR, Rural Residential zoned properties. Several RR-zoned properties are within the Urban 
Service Boundary and are adjacent to higher density residential districts. This has caused issues 
with residential properties and residents that did not intend to reside next to rural properties. 

If Meridian Township does not regulate roosters, then that would become a Right to Farm issue that 
would make it extremely difficult to regulate them at all. The Township Attorney has recommended 
the update to regulate roosters under the zoning ordinance, which is allowed by the Michigan Right 
to Farm act. 

If adopted, the amended language would amend Sec. 860368(b)(8) to only allow roosters on RR 
zoned parcels of five acres or greater in size and only outside of the Urban Service Boundary. A map 
showing RR zoned parcels greater than five acres in size is included.  

We look forward to providing a draft ordinance to the Planning Commission in the future. 

Attachments: 
1. Sec. 86-368(b)(8) – Redlined
2. Sec. 86-368(b)(8) – Clean
3. Rural Residential Selection Map





 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

To:  Planning Commission 
 
From:  Brian Shorkey, Principal Planner 
 
Date:  July 14, 2025 
 
Re: TA #25014 – Sec. 86-368 – RR District – Regulation of Roosters 
 
Staff previously informed the Planning Commission that Staff would be introducing language to 
further regulate roosters in the Rural Residential district. Staff discussed proposed updated 
language to update Sec. 86-368 at the regular Planning Commission meeting on June 9, 2025 and 
has scheduled a public hearing for July 13, 2025. The specific updated language affects Part (8) 
under subsection (b), Uses permitted by right. 
 
Currently, under the Township’s backyard chicken ordinance, roosters are generally prohibited, 
except on RR, Rural Residential zoned properties. Several RR-zoned properties are within the Urban 
Service Boundary and are adjacent to higher density residential districts. This has caused issues 
with residential properties and residents that did not intend to reside next to rural properties. 
 
If Meridian Township does not regulate roosters, then that would become a Right to Farm issue that 
would make it extremely difficult to regulate them at all. The Township Attorney has recommended 
the update to regulate roosters under the zoning ordinance, which is allowed by the Michigan Right 
to Farm act. 
 
At the Planning Commission meeting on June 23rd, Staff was asked to provide statistics on the 
complaints that the Township has received about roosters. Since 2022, the Township has logged 
nine complaints about roosters. Seven of the complaints come from inside of the Urban Service 
Boundary (USB). Five of the complaints occurred in 2025, all of which came from inside the USB, 
indicating that the number of complaints is increasing.   
 
If adopted, the amended language would amend Sec. 86-368(b)(8) to only allow roosters on RR 
zoned parcels of five acres or greater in size and only outside of the Urban Service Boundary. A map 
showing RR zoned parcels greater than five acres was included in the previous meeting packet.  
 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval as written, recommend approval of a revised 
version, or recommend denial of the proposed zoning amendment. A resolution will be provided at 
a future meeting. 
 
Attachments: 

1. Sec. 86-368(b)(8) – Clean 
2. Sec. 86-368(b)(8) – Redlined 



 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

To:  Planning Commission 
 
From:  Brian Shorkey, Principal Planner 
 
Date:  July 28, 2025 
 
Re: TA #25014 – Sec. 86-368 – RR District – Regulation of Roosters 
 
Staff previously informed the Planning Commission that Staff would be introducing language to 
further regulate roosters in the Rural Residential district. Staff discussed proposed updated 
language to update Sec. 86-368 at the regular Planning Commission meeting on June 9, 2025 and 
has scheduled a public hearing for July 13, 2025. The specific updated language affects Part (8) 
under subsection (b), Uses permitted by right. The Planning Commission held a public hearing for 
the ordinance update on July 14, 2025 and after discussion, indicated support for the attached 
amendment. 
 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval as written, recommend approval of a revised 
version, or recommend denial of the proposed zoning amendment. At this time, Staff would 
recommend approval of the proposed ordinance changes. A resolution to recommend approval of 
the proposed zoning amendment is provided. 
 
Motion to adopt the resolution recommending approval of Zoning Amendment #25014 in 
accordance with the revised draft ordinance language. 
 
Attachments: 

1. Resolution recommending approval of Zoning Amendment #25014 to the Township Board 
2. Sec. 86-368(b)(8) – Rural Residential – Clean 
3. Sec. 86-368(b)(8) – Rural Residential – Redlined 



Page 1 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 

REGULAR MEETING PLANNING COMMISSION  
5000 Okemos Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Township Townhall Room 

Monday, June 9, 2025, 6:30 pm 
 
PRESENT: Chair Shrewsbury, Vice Chair Snyder, Commissioners Romback, Fowler, McConnell, 

McCurtis, and Brooks (6:55) 

ABSENT: None 

STAFF: Principal Planner Shorkey 

 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

 
Chair Shrewsbury called the June 9, 2025, regular meeting for the Meridian Township Planning 
Commission to order at 6:30 pm.  
 

2. ROLL CALL 
 
Chair Shrewsbury called the roll of the Board. All Board members were present except for 
Commissioner Brooks. 
 

3. PUBLIC REMARKS 
 
None 
 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Chair Shrewsbury asked for approval of the agenda.  
 
Commissioner McConnell moved to approve the June 9, 2025, Regular Planning 
Commission meeting agenda. Seconded by Commissioner McCurtis. Motion passed 
unanimously. 
 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Commissioner McCurtis moved to approve Minutes of the April 28, 2025 meeting with 
minor amendments. Seconded by Commissioner McConnell. Motion passed unanimously. 
 

6. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
None 

 
7. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
A. SUP #25009 – Ace Hardware Outdoor Storage 
 

Principal Planner Shorkey introduced the item. Chair Shrewsbury opened the public 
hearing. 



Page 2 

 
Ms. Laura Jenovich, attorney for the applicant, spoke about the application and explained 
the need for outdoor storage. Ms. Jenovich said that the applicant would enclose the 
unenclosed area with cinder blocks and timbers unless waived by the Planning 
Commission.  
 
Mr. John Brown, representative for the applicant, explained how the cinder block fences 
would be constructed.  
 
Mr. Cutler Martin, representative for the applicant, spoke about the site and explained the 
need for the outdoor storage and sales. 
 
Principal Planner Shorkey asked if the outdoor materials are left out overnight. Mr. Martin 
said that more valuable items are brought in but pallets are left outside. Chair Shrewsbury 
commented that the outdoor storage requirements seemed to be inconsistently enforced 
and asked about the need for fencing. Commissioner Snyder expressed concern about the 
proximity of the material on the sidewalk entrance to vehicles in the adjacent handicap 
parking space.  
 
Ms. Jenovich suggested that a condition of periodic review of the SUP could be added to the 
approval if future aesthetic was a concern. Commissioner McConnell asked for an 
explanation of the traffic circulation on the site.  
 
After discussion, Chair Shrewsbury closed the public hearing at 6:53. 
 
Commissioner Brooks arrived during the discussion (6:58). 

 
After further discussion about enforcement of the fence requirement, accessibility, and 
aesthetics, the Commissioners indicated via consensus that they would likely support the 
permit. Principal Planner Shorkey said that Staff would put together a resolution at the next 
Planning Commission meeting and summarized the Planning Commission’s comments.  

 
B. PUD #25012 – Hulett Road Estate 

 
Principal Planner Shorkey introduced the item. Chair Shrewsbury opened the public 
hearing at 7:03. 
 
Mr. Jim Giguere, applicant, spoke about the application and the history of the project. Mr. 
Giguere said that he had met with the Drain Commission’s office and that they were likely 
to approve the plan for the PUD. Commissioner McConnell asked about the plans for the 
existing farmhouse.  
 
Chair Shrewsbury asked for comments from the public. Mr. James Carter spoke and 
expressed concern about truck traffic on Hulett Road.  Chair Shrewsbury closed the public 
hearing at 7:11. 
 
Commissioner Brooks asked for an overview of PUDs. Principal Planner Shorkey explained 
PUDs and how the project complies with the PUD ordinance. Principal Planner Shorkey 
suggested adding a condition of approval that trucks follow the truck route state and 
county ordinances and access the site via Jolly Road from the south. Commissioner Brooks 
asked about the issues that kept the previous 2022 site plan from being approved.  
 
 



Page 3 

 
The Planning Commission discussed truck traffic and access to the project site. 
Commissioner Fowler asked about future maintenance of the private access drive. 
Commissioner Brooks asked about the Road Department and approval of the private drive.  
 
Commissioner Brooks asked for more detail about conversations between the applicant and 
the county agencies and asked for an update of where the county agencies stand on the 
application. Commissioners indicated via straw poll that they would likely support the 
permit. Principal Planner Shorkey said that Staff would supply a resolution to support at 
the next Planning Commission meeting. 

 
8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
None. 
 

9. OTHER BUSINESS 
 

A. Off-Street Parking – Sec 86-758 – Landscaping Discussion 
 

Principal Planner Shorkey introduced the discussion item.  Chair Shrewsbury asked if there 
were any comments on the draft ordinance. There being none, Principal Planner Shorkey 
said that Staff would schedule a public hearing for the ordinance for July 14, 2025.  

 

B. Roosters – Sec. 86-368 – Rural Residential – Discussion 
 

Principal Planner Shorkey introduced the discussion item and explained the need for the 
text amendment to regulate roosters. Commissioner Snyder asked how the amendment 
would work with existing residents that owned roosters. Commissioner Romback 
expressed concern about the ordinance update and the retroactive enforcement of a 
nuisance. 
 
After further discussion, the Planning Commission asked for further information about the 
need for the ordinance. Principal Planner Shorkey said that Staff would schedule a public 
hearing for the ordinance for July 14, 2025. 
 

10. REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

A. Township Board Update 
 
Principal Planner Shorkey informed the Planning Commission that the Board introduced 
the Parking Requirements ordinance for discussion at their June 3rd meeting. Principal 
Planner Shorkey said that a new intern had been hired and that she would be introduced at 
a later meeting. 
 

B. Liaison Reports 
 

None 
 
11. PROJECT UPDATES 

 
Principal Planner Shorkey said that there was no update. 

schmitt
Highlight



Page 4 

 
12. PUBLIC REMARKS 

 
James Carter spoke and expressed further concern about truck traffic on Hulett Road. 
 

13. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
 
Commissioner McConnell spoke about dog barking complaints in his neighborhood and that 
police were responding and reiterated that the Planning Commission had received complaint 
reports in the past. Principal Planner Shorkey said that Staff could provide a summary report at 
a future meeting. Commissioner Brooks asked about code complaints and if they are public 
record. Commissioner Brooks pointed out a mistake on one of the pages in the packet. 
Commissioner Brooks asked how often projects expire and need to be reheard. 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Chair Shrewsbury called for a motion to adjourn the meeting at 8:01 pm 
 
Commissioner McConnell moved to adjourn the June 9, 2025 regular meeting of the 
Planning Commission. Seconded by Commissioner Brooks. Motion passed unanimously. 



Page 1 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
REGULAR MEETING PLANNING COMMISSION  
5000 Okemos Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Township Townhall Room 
Monday, June 23, 2025, 6:30 pm 
 
PRESENT: Chair Shrewsbury, Commissioners Romback, Fowler, McConnell, and Brooks  

ABSENT: Vice Chair Snyder, Commissioner McCurtis 

STAFF: Principal Planner Shorkey 

 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

 
Chair Shrewsbury called the June 23, 2025, regular meeting for the Meridian Township 
Planning Commission to order at 6:33 pm.  
 

2. ROLL CALL 
 
Chair Shrewsbury called the roll of the Board. All Board members were present except for Vice 
Chair Snyder, and Commissioner McCurtis. 
 

3. PUBLIC REMARKS 
 
None 
 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Chair Shrewsbury asked for approval of the agenda.  
 
Commissioner Romback moved to approve the June 23, 2025, Regular Planning 
Commission meeting agenda. Seconded by Commissioner McConnell. Motion passed 
unanimously. 
 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Commissioner McConnell moved to approve Minutes of the June 9, 2025 meeting with 
minor amendments. Seconded by Commissioner Romback. Motion passed unanimously. 
 

6. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
None 

 
7. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
None 
 
 

8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 



Page 2 

 
None. 
 

9. OTHER BUSINESS 
A. SUP #25009 – Ace Hardware Outdoor Storage 
 

Principal Planner Shorkey introduced the item. There being no comments, Chair 
Shrewsbury asked for a motion. 

 
Commissioner McConnell moved to approve SUP #25009, subject to the conditions in 
the resolution. Seconded by Commissioner Romback. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
B. PUD #25012 – Hulett Road Estate 

Principal Planner Shorkey introduced the item. There being no comments, Chair 
Shrewsbury asked for a motion. 
 
Commissioner Romback moved to recommend approval of PUD #25012, subject to 
the conditions in the resolution. Seconded by Commissioner McConnell. Motion 
passed unanimously. 

 
C. TA #25014 – Sec. 86-378 – Rural residential Roosters – Discussion 

 
Principal Planner Shorkey introduced the item and summarized the memo in the packet.  
 
Commissioner McConnell asked if people inside the Urban Service Boundary will lose their 
ability to have roosters on their property. Principal Planner Shorkey confirmed that. 
Commissioner Brooks asked if the MSU property would be affected by the ordinance. 
Principal Planner Shorkey said that he would look into that question and answer it at the 
public hearing. Chair Shrewsbury asked how the ordinance would be enforced. Principal 
Planner Shorkey said that Staff was still discussing enforcement with the Township 
Attorney. 
 
After discussion, Principal Planner Shorkey described the registration process for chickens 
in residential districts and commented that roosters are not allowed so no roosters are 
registered in residential districts. Commissioner Brooks asked if areas that are next to areas 
outside the USB have the ability to complain about roosters. Principal Planner Shorkey said 
yes, but as the parcels would be outside the USB, there would be no enforcement. 
Commissioner Romback suggested a delay implementation and enforcement to allow 
residents time for rooster removal. Commissioner McConnell asked how residents would 
be notified about the ordinance update. Principal Planner Shorkey described the 
notification process and commented on the number of meeting and hearings that would be 
held. Commissioner Romback asked how this affected historical farming areas. Principal 
Planner Shorkey said that such areas are outside of the USB and would not be affected.  
 

10. REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

A. Township Board Update 
 
Principal Planner Shorkey said that there was no update. 
 

B. Liaison Reports 
 

Commissioner McConnell said that the Environmental Commission met on June 4th. 

schmitt
Highlight



Page 3 

 
11. PROJECT UPDATES 

 
Principal Planner Shorkey said that there was no update. 

 
12. PUBLIC REMARKS 

 
None 
 

13. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
 
None 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Chair Shrewsbury called for a motion to adjourn the meeting at 7:24 pm 
 
Commissioner Romback moved to adjourn the June 23, 2025 regular meeting of the 
Planning Commission. Seconded by Commissioner Brooks. Motion passed unanimously. 



Page 1 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
REGULAR MEETING PLANNING COMMISSION  
5000 Okemos Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
517.853.4000, Township Townhall Room 
Monday, July 14, 2025, 6:30 pm 
 
PRESENT: Vice Chair Snyder, Commissioners McCurtis, Fowler, and Brooks. Commissioner 

Romback arrived late  

ABSENT: Chair Shrewsbury, Commissioner McConnell 

STAFF: Principal Planner Shorkey, Planning Intern Rommeck 

 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

 
Vice Chair Snyder called the July 14, 2025, regular meeting for the Meridian Township Planning 
Commission to order at 6:33 pm.  
 

2. ROLL CALL 
 
Vice Chair Snyder called the roll of the Board. All Board members were present except for Chair 
Shrewsbury and Commissioners Romback and McConnell. 
 

3. PUBLIC REMARKS 
 
None 
 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Vice Chair Snyder asked for approval of the agenda.  
 
Commissioner McCurtis moved to approve the July 14, 2025, Regular Planning 
Commission meeting agenda. Seconded by Commissioner Brooks. Motion passed 
unanimously. 
 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Commissioner Romback arrived during the discussion.  
 
Commissioner Brooks moved to approve Minutes of the June 23, 2025 meeting as 
written. Seconded by Commissioner McCurtis. Motion passed unanimously. 
 

6. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
None 

 
7. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
A. #25013 – Text Amendment – Sec. 86-758 – Landscaping 

 



Page 2 

Principal Planner Shorkey introduced the item.  
 
Commissioner Brooks asked for clarification on how perimeter landscape is calculated. 
Principal Planner Shorkey explained the calculation to the Commission. Commissioner Brooks 
said that the term interior landscaping is confusing considering perimeter landscaping. After 
discussion, Vice Chair Snyder suggested removing the word interior from the ordinance. 
  
Commissioner Brooks asked if there is a specific section on parking landscaping elsewhere in 
the zoning ordinance. Principal Planner Shorkey said that this is the only section on 
landscaping in relation to parking. Commissioner Brooks asked how this update relates to the 
new parking space ordinance update. Principal Planner Shorey gave some hypothetical 
examples showing how the ordinance updates interact with each other. 
 
Commissioner Brooks asked if there a need for a maximum square footage for perimeter 
landscaping. Principal Planner Shorkey suggested that there is no need for a maximum. After 
more discussion about perimeter landscaping, Vice-Chair Snyder complemented the updated 
ordinance. Commissioner Brooks agreed. 
 
Commissioner McCurtis asked about the timeline for the ordinance update. Principal Planner 
Shorkey said that the Planning Commission would vote on the ordinance update at the next 
meeting and then it would be forwarded to the Board for approval and that it would probably 
be approved in September. 
 
Commissioners indicated via straw poll that they would likely support the amended ordinance 
update. Principal Planner Shorkey said that Staff would supply a resolution to support at the 
next Planning Commission meeting.  
 
 

B. #25014 – Text Amendment – Sec. 86-368 – Rural Residential Roosters 
 

Principal Planner Shorkey introduced the item.  
 
Commissioner Romback asked about the locations of the 5 complaints and whether they came 
from the same resident. Principal Planner Shorkey said that Staff would have to look into that 
question. 
 
Commissioner Romback expressed concern about subsection 3 in the ordinance. After 
discussion, Principal planner Shorkey said that Staff could remove that update from that and 
that it would not affect the rooster regulation.  
 
Commissioner Brooks asked if there is another section in the zoning ordinance that is similar 
that regulates how the townships handle animals. Principal Planner Shorkey said that dogs are 
regulated but it doesn’t affect any other animals. After more discussion, Principal Planner 
Shorkey said that stricter rules take precedence between the Township zoning ordinance and 
HOA regulations. 
 
Commissioners indicated via straw poll that they would likely support the amended ordinance 
update. Principal Planner Shorkey said that Staff would supply a resolution to support at the 
next Planning Commission meeting. 
 

8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
None. 

schmitt
Highlight



Page 3 

 
9. OTHER BUSINESS 

 
None. 

 
10. REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
A. Township Board Update 
 

Principal Planner Shorkey said that there was no update. 
 
B. Liaison Reports 

 
Commissioner Brooks said that his appointment to the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 
was approved by the Board. 

 
11. PROJECT UPDATES 

 
Principal Planner Shorkey pointed out the updated project report in the packet. 

 
12. PUBLIC REMARKS 

 
None 
 

13. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
 
None 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Vice Chair Snyder called for a motion to adjourn the meeting at 7:36 pm 
 
Commissioner Romback moved to adjourn the July 14, 2025 regular meeting of the 
Planning Commission. Seconded by Commissioner Brooks. Motion passed unanimously. 



 

 Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

 
11.B 

Updated 8/7/25 

 
 
To:  Township Board Members 
 
From: Tim Dempsey, Township Manager 

Courtney Wisinski, Director of Parks & Recreation 
Dan Opsommer, Deputy Township Manager and Director of Public Works 
Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP, Community Planning and Development Director 

   
Date:   August 7, 2025 
 
Re: Community and Senior Center Options 
 

With the August election completed, Staff have compiled the options available to the Township Board 
for next steps on the Community and Senior Center. Given the voters’ decision on the proposed 
millages, we have limited our focus to a Senior Center only option going forward. As a reminder, the 
completion date for the use of the $5 million grant from the State of Michigan is September 30, 2026, 
so there are significant time constraints that limit what options are available to us. In terms of the 
current Senior Center closure, that timeframe has changed to May 2028 from the prior assumption 
of June 2027. We are providing four possible options for consideration given these time constraints. 
 
Option 1: New Construction 
The option to construct a new Senior Center is still viable but is increasingly constrained by time. To 
meet the grant deadline, we would have to use Option 1 from the May 8, 2025 Township Board 
packet, which is the current conceptual design on the Central Fire Station site. Restarting the design 
and site selection process and then moving into construction would not be completed in the time 
frame we have available to us under the grant conditions. 
 
Staff have also re-reviewed the real estate market to confirm there are no existing buildings that have 
recently become available that would be a viable option. At this time, there is not a site available that 
we would bring forward as an option for the Senior Center. As we have previously pointed out, 
acquisition costs would likely take up a substantial portion of the $5 million grant, further increasing 
the need to find funding sources for construction. This approach would also place additional time 
constraints on being able to fully utilize the grant. 
 
 Pros 

• This is the closest replacement option to the existing facility at Chippewa Middle School, 
while providing a reasonable amount of additional space for new and/or expanded 
programming. This would allow the Center to grow and accommodate new users as the 
Township’s population continues to age.  

• A scaled-back building would cost less money up front to construct. The combined center 
that was on the August 5 ballot was estimated to cost $24 million dollars, $19 million 
from proposed construction bond and $5 million being paid by the State grant. 
Alternatively, a Senior-only facility was estimated in March to cost approximately $9.8 
million dollars. 

  

https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/30079/638823185779430000
https://www.meridian.mi.us/home/showpublisheddocument/30079/638823185779430000


 
Senior Center Discussion  Page 2 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

• A smaller facility would cost less money to operate in the long term. There would be six 
less staff needed and approximately $617,600 less per year to operate. Many of these 
reductions from the Senior Community Center model would be from the reduced hours 
of operation for a Senior-only facility. 

 
Cons 
• New construction bond and operations millages would still be required, but at a reduced 

millage rate than the one put to voters earlier this week. The millage rate for both 
proposals on the August 5 ballot was 0.9051 mill. The millage rate for the Senior Center 
only option was 0.3381 bill, or 63% less. The General Fund and Parks Funds cannot 
absorb additional operating costs and the Capital Project Fund does not have enough 
existing funds to cover the gap in construction costs between the grant and the estimated 
cost. 

• To get a millage on the ballot would require the language to be approved by Monday, 
August 11. This would necessitate a special meeting to be called for Monday to approve 
the language, providing a minimum of 18 hours of notice.  

• The timeline to meet the September 30, 2026 deadline for the State grant is very tight. 
Assuming we wait to fully mobilize design until after the November election with a 
potential second millage question, we would have to simultaneously run site plan review 
and architectural design through winter, which is a challenge. This would lead to land 
clearing in March, full bidding of the project in April, and a construction start date in June. 
We would then need to front load any construction contract, to spend down the grant, 
which would limit the types of construction firms we would want to partner with on the 
project.  

 
Option 2: Okemos Public Schools Partnership 
We could pursue a new Senior Center facility as part of the Chippewa Middle School construction 
project. Although not currently in the facility design, we would work with Okemos Public Schools to 
plan for a future phase of Chippewa to include a Senior Center, more specifically designed for the 
needs of the group. This option assumes OPS would be receptive to this opportunity. 

 
Pros 
• This option would directly maintain the existing situation, allowing the Meridian 

Township Senior Center to continue in nearly the exact same situation as it has for many 
years.  

• Subject to what financial resources would ultimately be available, this option would be 
the closest to constructing a new facility on Township land, as it allows us to tailor the 
space to the needs of the seniors using the facility.  

 
Cons 
• There would likely be a gap where the facility would not exist, after the current area of 

Chippewa that houses the Senior Center was demolished and before the new facility was 
built. Although we can mitigate this through programming at other Township 
facilities/buildings, we will not be able to maintain the current center in any realistic way 
for a time period that would need to be determined.  

• The operational costs of the facility would likely increase, but ultimately dependent on 
how the ongoing partnership is structured. 



 
Senior Center Discussion  Page 3 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Option 3: Partnership with Another Agency 
Since the current Senior Center will not be available starting in May 2028, a partnership with another 
agency would be an option to explore, if an appropriate location is available. Other agencies could 
include one or more school districts, and other municipalities. 
 

Pros 
• Substantial costs would be saved if we did not have to construct a new facility. Most of 

the front-end costs under the millages were for construction, so removing this portion of 
the project would result in a far more affordable project. This would be contingent 
whether the identified partner(s) has an existing facility. 

• There is a potential for operational cost savings, depending on how a partnership was 
structured. This would be unknown for some time, while we worked through the details 
of any agreement.  

 
 Cons 

• This option assumes receptivity and willingness to explore a partnership. Until outreach 
efforts are made with potential partners, it is difficult to assess the viability of this option. 

• We would be directly connected to the financial situation of an outside agency for the 
facility. If our partners ran into fiscal challenges and were looking to cut costs, they may 
seek to increase any payments we were making under the partnership or close the 
facility, leaving us without a viable location.  

• Operations of such a facility could require additional financial support, depending on 
what the final plan was. This would be an unknown for some time, while we worked 
through the details of the partnership.  

• Capital improvement contributions, if required, may be problematic from a legal 
perspective, since we would be investing Township dollars in non-Township facilities. 
This issue would need to be worked out in the details of the operating agreement.  

 
Option 4: Reassessment and New Strategy 
Given voter sentiment, another option is to pause and fully reassess the Senior Center facility and 
program. This process could start later this year or early 2026. This approach would provide 
additional time to develop a thorough analysis of available options, including consideration of those 
outlined in this memo. 
 

Pros 
• The additional time would allow for more scenario planning and provide the ability to 

gather additional community feedback. 
 

Cons 
• The $5 million State grant would be lost. 
• There would likely be a gap where the facility would not exist, after the current area of 

Chippewa that houses the Senior Center was demolished and before the new facility was 
built. Although we can mitigate this through programming at other Township 
facilities/buildings, we will not be able to maintain the current center in any realistic way 
for a time period that would need to be determined. 

 

We look forward to discussing this matter further with the Township Board as we work towards a 
future path for the Senior Center in Meridian Township.  


	August 7, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Packet 
	08.07.25 Agenda
	9.A Communications
	9.B July 22, 2025 Draft Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	9.D Bills
	9.E 2026 Budget Hearing Date
	9.F Outdoor Assembly and Liquor Licesne Request - High Caliber Karting
	9.G Service Agreement - 2025 Fall Recycling Event
	9.H Hulett Road Estates - PUD 2025-12
	10.A Meridian Mall Parking Lot Resurfacing Agreement
	Meridian Mall Parking Lot Resurfacing Agreement_Final v2.pdf

	10.B Eyde Central Park Property - Central Park Drive Project Referral
	11.A Ordinance 2025-06 - Rooster Regulation
	11.B Community and Senior Center Next Steps

	ADPEA2A.tmp
	LEAP & Meridian Township
	What is LEAP?
	Why Economic Development?
	LEAP’s Regional Economic Development Plan
	LEAP: Results for us All
	Direct Benefit Meridian Township
	Public Art for Communities  
	Direct Benefit to Meridian Township




